
February Listening Presence: Michael   |  Next Beacon On the Hill Article: Helen/Pier – due 2/15/24 

Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley 
Board of Trustees Meeting Agenda 

Wednesday, February 7, 2024 
 

Via Zoom: https://zoom.us/j/91070175965?pwd=d2FUcWZCQjYzVEF2MFZabWJQQVRrUT09 
 
7:15 1. CALL TO ORDER & OPENING RITUALS 

a. Chalice reading & lighting – Cordell Sloan 
b. Board Covenant reading – Carolyn James 
c. Land Acknowledgement Statement – Selene Fabiano 
d. Widening the Circle Statement – David Rosales 

 

7:25 2. CONSENT AGENDA – Items may be approved in one motion unless a Board 
member requests an item be removed for question or placement under 
discussion/action 
a. Approve agenda 
b. Approve January 2024 Board Meeting minutes 
c. Accept monthly Executive Director’s report, pending submission 
d. Accept monthly Treasurer’s report 
e. Accept monthly Freestone Oversight Committee report 
f. Approve revisions to February Congregational Meeting agenda 

 
7:30 3. MINISTER’S REPORT 

 
7:40 4. ANNOUNCEMENTS/LISTENING 

a. Board or staff announcements, Board Listening Presence 
• Congregational Meeting Sunday, February 11, 2024 
• Board of Trustees election has begun 

b. Congregants who wish to speak to the Board on agenda items or other matters. 
 
8:00 5. DISCUSSION/ACTION ITEMS 

a. Annual Report – Tess Snook O’Riva  
b. Governance Manual Task Force: Approval of updated Governance Manual – Beth 

Pollard and Kay Fairwell 
 

8:30 BREAK 
 
8:35 5. DISCUSSION ITEMS CON’T 

c. Board Process for New Members – Helen Tinsley-Jones and Pier Sun Ho 
d. Transylvania Partner Church Meetings – Anne Greenwood 
e. Beacon Article – Pier Sun Ho 

 

9:00 6. BOARD COMMITTEE MEMBER/LIAISON REPORTS 
 
9:20 7. CLOSING COMMENTS 
 

9:25 8. ADJOURNMENT 
  

https://zoom.us/j/91070175965?pwd=d2FUcWZCQjYzVEF2MFZabWJQQVRrUT09


February Listening Presence: Michael   |  Next Beacon On the Hill Article: Helen/Pier – due 2/15/24 

Aspirational Covenant of the UUCB Board of Trustees 
Approved September 2019, updated May 2020 
We as the UUCB Board of Trustees agree: 

• To stay committed to connection even when we disagree; 
• To recognize the fullness of our power, and the many responsibilities that power entails; 
• To listen actively to each other and the congregation, and to seek out opportunities to do so; 
• To be caring, respectful, present and open-minded; 
• To work together to make the changes the congregation needs, as we keep the best interests 

of the congregation above our own and to live into our mission; 
• To support and trust each other in our work; 
• To remember the goal of our work is to build a thriving, loving congregation; 
• To be unafraid in the face of hard decisions, to be unafraid of making mistakes, knowing 

that we will learn from them if we do, and to be unafraid of challenging sacred cows; and 
• To come to decisions we all feel we can support while recognizing diverse views. 

 
Land Acknowledgement Statement 
As we begin, we want to acknowledge that this church occupies land in Huchiun, the unceded 
territory of the Chochenyo-speaking Ohlone people. We understand that we continue to benefit 
from the seizure and occupation of this land. We acknowledge and embrace our responsibility to 
take restorative action. We affirm that this is deeply felt and commit our congregation to be in 
right relationship with Indigenous communities, aligning in solidarity, supporting Indigenous 
projects, and caring properly for the land. 
 
Widening the Circle Vision Statement 
We, the trustees of UUCB, commit ourselves to championing racial justice embodying anti-racist 
practices, and confronting and dismantling white supremacy culture and all forms of oppression 
(including but not limited to racism, sexism, ableism, homophobia, transphobia, classism, 
ageism, xenophobia and religious oppression (including anti-Semitism and Islamophobia) in 
everything we do.  
 
Mission Statement of the Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley 
The mission of the Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley is to create loving community, 
inspire spiritual growth, and encourage lives of integrity, joy and service. 
 
Vision Statement of the Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley 
The Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley is a welcoming and vibrant congregation. We 
joyously support spiritual development guided by individual faith, reason, and conscience. We 
are committed to serving one another, the church community, the community at large, and the 
global community. We foster a spirit of generosity and trust that encourages care for our church 
home and affirms diversity and relationships consistent with Unitarian Universalist principles. 



1 
 

Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley Board of Trustees Meeting 
Wednesday, January 10, 2024 

 
Meeting Conducted via Zoom Video Conference 

 
Minutes – Draft 

 
ATTENDEES 
 
Voting members:  Michael Armstrong, Bill Brown, Kay Fairwell, Randall Hudson, Beth Pollard, 
Cordell Sloan, Helen Tinsley-Jones 
 
Absent:  Pier Ho, David Rosales 
 
Ex officio members:   Rev. Marcus Liefert, Tess O’Riva (Executive Director), Selene Fabiano 
(Secretary), Carolyn James (Treasurer) 
 
Visitors:  Jean Gleason, Anne Greenwood, Lynn Hammond, Albert Kueffner, Anita Mermel,  
Bob Moore, Larry Nagel, Marta Tobey, Tom Tripp, Dave Wemmer 
 
A quorum being present, the meeting was called to order by Helen Tinsley-Jones, co-president, 
at 7:10_p.m.   Carolyn did the chalice lighting and reading, Selene read the Board covenant, Kay 
read the land acknowledgement, and Beth read the Widening the Circle Vision Statement. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
A motion for the following (M _Michael _/S__Kay ) passed unanimously: 
 

• Approve agenda 
• Approve December 2023 Board Meeting minutes   
• Approve February Congregational Meeting agenda 
• Accept monthly Treasurer’s report 
• Accept Executive Director’s report 

 
MINISTER’S REPORT 
The installation for Rev. Marcus will be on the afternoon of Sunday April 21st.  Rev. Marcus 
described the installation as being “like a wedding” in that it’s a celebration of the union of 
minister and congregation, as well as an art installation to share and make visible our dreams and 
hopes for the future. He invited us to share our ideas on how the congregation can be included in 
the service. 
 



2 
Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes 

Rev. Marcus reported that the 5PM Xmas service was extraordinarily well-attended and that he 
received feedback that it needs to be shorter.   Staff performance evaluations are being done this 
month.  Tess is working on the budgeting process and has begun sending out budget requests.  
Due to medical issues in her family, Tess will likely need to take some significant leave in the 
coming weeks or months, so there is a focus on how she can hand responsibilities off to other 
staff.  Charis will share a new brochure for visitors that shows UUCB’s offerings.  Charis has 
flagged the need for consistent branding among church communications/brochures. Rebranding 
efforts will be considered in budgeting for FY24-25. Rev. Marcus hopes that that Ground and 
Horizon conversations on mission and vision will inform decisions about branding. He has asked 
the people who have raised the issue of changing the name of our congregation to include that 
idea in the larger conversation regarding UUCB’s mission and vision. 
 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS/LISTENING 
Board or Staff Announcements: 
• Election process and timeline. Michael Armstrong reported that Candidates’ Forum will take place 
on 1/28/24. The candidates have been given the four questions in advance. Candidate statements will 
be sent out shortly. 
   
• Program Council leadership change.  Jean Gleason will be stepping down as Chair of the Program 
Council and Marta Tobey will take on this role.  Jean expressed her appreciation for being able to 
work with all of the program representatives.  The purpose of the program council is to increase 
communication, coordinate, and provide cross-fertilization among the different church groups and 
programs. Big thanks to Jean for all her work. 
 
• Worship Associates leadership change. Karen Elliott is stepping down as Lead WA and Don Klose 
is stepping into that role.  Many thanks to both of them.  
 
• MLK Jr. Parade and Rally, Jan 15, 2024 in El Cerrito. UUCB participants will join the parade from 
City Hall to EC High School  
 
• Rev. Marcus’ Service of Installation is scheduled for April 21, 2024 PM.   
 
Report from Board listening presence: 
Michael will take on the full role of online and in-person listening when Randall goes off the 
board.   
Randall reported the following feedback: 
One person felt the land acknowledgement statement seems performative and should be read 
occasionally rather than at every service.  Randall informed this individual that UUCB gives 
money to the Shuumi land tax. Helen added: UUCB has an Honoring Indigenous People group 
(HIP) which has been partnering with some indigenous groups. All of HIP’s many activities are 
included in the annual report.  
 
 
 



3 
Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes 

Congregants who wish to speak to the Board: 
Anne Greenwood:  Reminded the board that the Zoom meeting between some UUCB BOT 
members and the board council of our partner church is scheduled for 1/20 at 10AM.  Helen, 
Pier, Marcus will be participating and other board members are invited to join. Anne will send 
out an agenda. Selene will create the Zoom link and send it to Anne and the participating UUCB 
members.  Anne will share the Zoom link with our partner church. 
 
Al Kueffner:  Al spoke about the indigenous tradition of meeting around a campfire and 
encouraged us to think about how UUCB might find ways to follow this tradition.  Al also 
suggested that UUCB offer the Freestone land to indigenous people, perhaps for their youth 
vision quests. Helen suggested that these items be put on the agenda for the next HIP meeting. 
 
DISCUSSION/ACTION ITEMS:  

a. Freestone Oversight Committee (FOC): Recommendation to list Lots 1 and 2 for sale 

Larry Nagel shared that the Freestone Committee (FC) has requested to list Parcels 1 and 2 of the 
Freestone property with a Coldwell Banker in Sebastopol as part of their fundraising strategies.  The FOC 
reviewed this request and is recommending that the Board approve a motion to list Parcels 1 and 2.  If 
approved, the properties would appear on MLS in late January or early February 2024.   Larry 
emphasized that the request is for listing not selling, and that the current intention is to see if sale of the 
lots could raise enough money to meet the 12/1/24 deadline of raising $250,000 as laid out in the 
Freestone Resolution passed at the March 2023 Congregational Meeting. 

Questions & Discussion  

There was a question and concern about how to determine if the price offered for Lots 1 and 2 was 
reasonable, and if selling lots 1 and 2 was “ a favorable option for raising funds” per the March 2023 
Resolution.  A suggestion was made that it would be good to list both parcels 1 and 2, as well as listing all 
3 parcels to better gauge the value of selling lots 1 and 2, separate from lot 4.   

Responses to the above suggestion included:  1) The Freestone Committee is not considering selling lot 4 
right now and the intention of the March 2023 Resolution was to try to maintain the Freestone dome for 
UUCB, if possible.  2) If the FC asked a realtor to list Lot 4 when there was no intention of selling it, we 
would be misleading the realtor and not acting in good faith.  3) The realtor with whom Dave Wemmer 
has been working is knowledgeable about properties in Sonoma County and has suggested that Parcels 1 
and 2 be listed for $300,000.  This realtor also described the area where the Freestone lots are located as a 
“desirable destination market.” 4) The FC would be disinclined to recommend selling  Parcels 1 and 2 if 
their sale won’t raise enough money to rehab Parcel 4 (lot on which the dome is located). 5) Another 
possible advantage of selling Parcels 1 and 2 is there would then be another owner to help with the work 
and expense of maintaining the road. 

Some board members felt it was important to get the properties listed quickly since rural properties can sit 
on the market for a longtime, especially with the current high interest rates. 

Some skepticism was expressed about the likelihood of a conservation easement being granted for the 
Freestone property. 

 



4 
Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes 

Q:  What are the fees for listing? 
A: There is no fee for listing but we will be disclosing to the broker that we are also pursuing a 
conservation easement at the same time that we are listing the property. Because there are significant 
expenses for the realtor to list and show the property (estimate of $3000-$5000 in realtor costs for a 3 
month listing) the realtor may not want to enter into an agreement with us unless we agree to reimburse 
them for expenses if we opt for a conservation easement instead of selling the lots.  If Coldwell Banker 
decides not to work with us, the FC can contact Compass Realty in Sebastopol. 

Motion.   Bill made a motion to authorize the listing of Freestone Parcels 1 and 2 for sale, with any 
approval of a sale transaction to be made at a later date. Cordell seconded.  The motion passed 
unanimously. 

 
b. Building and Grounds – Tom Tripp 

Brief report on the private sewer lateral project.  Pressure test is required by EBMUD and must be 
completed by 2025.  Because UUCB’s sewers are all clay tile, they wouldn’t pass a pressure test, 
so they need to be replaced.   
 
Contractor was able to start work while the pre-school was on vacation and has worked quickly 
and intensively.  The project required digging a pit at each of the 12 laterals and the 15 clean-
outs.  The excavation was more complex than the contractor expected due to other existing 
pipelines. The contractor has fenced and covered the pits so the school was able to open after its 
vacation and function normally.  Communication between the contractor, UUCB, and the 
preschool has been ongoing. As of today (January 10th) all the sewers are done.  Some holes have 
to be backfilled and a few sections need to be tested by EBMUD.  It is expected that by January 
12th, the contractor will backfill all pits.  There was one change order request which the Buildings 
and Grounds Committee will probably approve. 

 
 
 

c. Governance Manual Task Force updates – Kay Fairwell and Beth Pollard 
Kay indicated that this agenda item was being brought forward tonight for initial discussion only, and that 
no action was required.  At the February board meeting, she and Beth would like additional discussion of 
and possible adoption of the proposed changes.  The Board Packet included a draft of the proposed 
revisions. Some of the main changes include a clarification of the purpose of Board executive sessions,   
expectations related to co-officers, clarification of some functions and policies, and a suggested expanded 
conflict of interest policy to include the finance and endowment committees.  
 
Kay asked the board to let Beth and her know if there are any changes they want or anything that isn’t 
clear. Beth reminded the board that the Governance Manual is a living document which is routinely 
updated. 
 
Discussion:  There were no comments or questions. 
 
 

d. Beacon Article  
Helen asked if there were any suggestions for the Board’s article in the next Beacon. The 
following suggestions were made: Encourage the congregation to be welcoming to the many 
newcomers and encourage newcomers to participate in church programs and activities. 
 



5 
Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes 

 
BOARD COMMITTEE MEMBER/LIAISON REPORTS 
 
Awards Committee – The following 4 Flaming Chalice awardees have been named and notified:  
Ladie Malek, Anne Wardell, Don Klose, and Melissa Rosales. 
 
 
       
CLOSING COMMENTS 
Cordell:  I have really enjoyed being on the group. We’re in good shape as a board and 
congregation. I hope we as a church community can have a voice and be relevant, as we face 
many challenges beyond our walls in the coming year.    
Kay: This is my 10th year serving on a UUCB board.  This board is a really collegial, thoughtful, 
and engaged group.  
 
ADJOURNMENT   
The meeting adjourned at 8:59PM    
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 

Selene Fabiano, Secretary 

 

Next Board Meeting:  February 7, 2024 

 



Executive Director Monthly Report to Board of Trustees 
February 2024 

 
End (Limitation) Topic Action/Discussion/Information 

Sustainability 
(Preserving and 

enhancing UUCB’s fiscal 
and physical assets) 

 

Finance & 
Budgeting 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Facilities/Buildings 
and Grounds 

 
 

 
 

 

• Rental reservations have increased for the Spring. We have something almost every 
weekend. 

• Budget process has begun. Departments, staff and programs have been invited to look at 
their program goals for the coming year and request both a baseline budget and “stretch 
goals.” 

• Annual meeting with owner of the DVCG Accounting firm went well. They have apologized 
for the delays in closing out the last two fiscal years, but with the legwork done and 
templates created, future years will be much more smooth. 

• Final accounting for Lexington Lodge/Cope Fund, Endowment Capital Projects, & Ladd 
Griffith Building Fund to be brought current by the end of this month to be able to guide 
future maintenance projects.   

• Documentation has been completed to update signers  

 

• The Private Sewer Lateral replacement is complete. Cost overruns due to the depth of the 
pipes and additional buried obstacles (like the old boiler system pipes), plus a change in 
building code regulations, necessitated a change request. Total project cost was around 
$135,000, still less that originally budgeted. Entire project managed and supervised by Tom 
Tripp. 

• Additional key pads being investigated for appropriate outside doors. There are hundreds of 
keys roaming around causing confusion and taking up admin time. 

• Northeast parking lot has been completely dug out  

• Atrium lighting has all been replaced. It’s so much brighter in there! 

• Heating issues in the Sanctuary were investigated and we hope they have been addressed. 
We are now looking at weather reports for the coming weekend and adjusting the start time 
for the Sanctuary on Sundays. Air blowing in was at 99 degrees, but the size of the space and 
cold snap still made it uncomfortably cold, even starting 4 hours before service. 

 



2 

 

 

End (Limitation) Topic Action/Discussion/Information 

 
Community 

(People are loved, 
valued, & connected) 

 

 
Admin & 

Operations 
 

• Janae completed the UUA Annual Recertification. (See attached.) 

• Preparation for February Congregational Meeting is ongoing. We still have about 14 people 
who get hard copy information. 

• Pursuing relationship with Story Tables, a gaming group for young people. They will be here 
on Friday afternoons and are discussing the possibility of a summer camp here. 

• Certificates being now being mailed to new members by Janae at the request of 
membership. 

• Janae, diana & Tess attended an HR bootcamp seminar to learn about new laws affecting 
UUCB. Some changes will need to be made, and we will keep the Board updated. Most 
notably, all personnel files will need to be audited for required documentation. 

Faith in Action 
(Social & Environmental 

Justice) 
 

Sustainability 
 

Events & Calendar 

• Love Songs & Chocolate February 10th, 7 pm. 

• The Brigid/Imbolc Ritual Concert hosted by Evelie Delfino Såles Posch on February 1st 
brought in over 100 people, many of whom had never been here. 

• Staff party on January 25th was a huge success! Staff really appreciated the congregational 
gifts. Thank you, everyone! 

Community 
(People are loved, 

valued, & connected) 
Safety & Security 

• Although Safety & Security had been a standing item at staff meetings, the reconfiguration 
of meetings will necessitate a new approach to comply with safety training requirements. 



Annual Congregational Inventory 2024

Congregation ID 2112

Directory Listing
Last Updated: 01/26/2024 1:28 PM Updated By: Caitlyn Vincent

 

Legal Name of Congregation  UU Church of Berkeley

Alternate Name of
Congregation

Acronym / Initials  UUCB

Telephone Number  (510) 525-0302

Website  http://www.uucb.org

Email Address  administrator@uucb.org

Mailing Address 1 Lawson Rd
Kensington, CA 94707-1015

Meeting Address (Same as Mailing Address)

 

Accessibility
Is your congregation's meeting space Wheelchair Accessible?  YES

Please provide details about your wheelchair accessibility

Does your congregation provide Assisted Listening Systems?  YES

Please provide details about your assisted listening systems
 
Virtual Services
Public URL for your Sunday service livestreams (if it exists)
 https://uucb.org/worship/upcoming-worship-services/



Financial Statistics
Last Updated: 02/01/2024 5:02 PM Updated By: Janae Heard

 

Total Expenses  $1268526

Denominational Contributions Only  $38050

Capital Expenses Only  $138684

What was your Total Pledge Income for the most recently
ended fiscal year?

 $414099

What was the total number of individual and family units
making formal pledges for the most recently ended fiscal
year?

 160

 

Long-Term Investments and Debts
Does your congregation own or rent its primary facility?  OWN

What is the income (if any) from usage by outside parties
of your building or rental space?

 $453682

What is the dollar value of your congregation's endowment
and reserves at the close of its last fiscal year?

 $2564978

How much did your congregation own in long-term debt at
the close of its last fiscal year?

 $23831



Membership and Attendance
Last Updated: 02/01/2024 5:11 PM Updated By: Janae Heard

 

Unitarian Universalist members  334

Multi-Denominational or Federated
Congregation members

How many Non-Member Friends do you
estimate are currently involved in or
contribute to your congregation but are not
members?

 178

Have you held regular religious services? If
so, with what regularity?

 Yes, weekly

Have you held at least one business
meeting about your members in the past
year?

 Yes

Total Participation - All Ages -- your best
estimate for the number of people (of all
ages) who are engaging with your
congregation on a weekly basis in any of its
virtual/online activities.

 151-175

What percent of the total participation is
from virtual/online participants? We
recognize this can vary from week to week.
Please provide the average percentage.

 20%

Participation - Children and Youth Only --
your best estimate for the number of
children and young (ranging in age from
nursery through high school) who are
engaging with your congregation on a
weekly basis in any of its virtual/online
activities.

 26-50

What percent of children & youth
participation is from virtual/online
participants? We recognize this can vary
from week from week. Please provide the
average percentage.

 0%

How many people (ranging in age from
nursery through high school) are currently
enrolled in Religious Education?

 25



Questionnaire: Cong. Diversity
Last Updated: 01/30/2024 6:36 PM Updated By: Janae Heard

Of your congregation's members and non-member friends (512), what percentage do you
estimate identify as Black, Indigenous and People of Color (BIPOC)?

 5-9% (22-47) 

Of your congregation's members and non-member friends (512), what percentage do you
estimate identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, or queer (LGBTQ)?

 10-24% (48-123) 

We employ  22  paid and full- and part-time staff (including ministers) of which  8  identify as
Black, Indigenous and People of Color (BIPOC).

 

Of those paid staff who identify as BIPOC,  1  are religious professionals (Include staff
functioning at a Specialist, Manager, Director, or Executive/Minister level in any administrative,
operational, or programmatic role.).

Our Board/Standing Committee is comprised of  9  members of which  3  identify as BIPOC.

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

http://www.tcpdf.org


TO: UUCB Board of Trustees 
FR: Carolyn James, Treasurer 
RE: Report for Board Meeting – February 7, 2024 
 
Update on Tax Filings: 
 
The work on the Calkins Trust is now complete.  The CPA firm Byrne Seligman prepared returns for 
years 2018 through 2022, and these were filed in January.  Back taxes of $13,821 were paid out of the 
Calkins Trust’s funds.  Penalties and interest of $7,189 were paid from the church’s general funds. 
 
We are now working on the Pooled Income Fund. This is a “split-interest trust,” to which several donors 
made gifts but retained rights to the income on their gift, with the church having rights to the remaining 
principal after the donor’s death.  There is only one remaining donor/beneficiary, former Rev. Boeke.  
There is $44k in this fund, held at Vanguard [note this is not related to the “Donor Restricted Pooled 
Fund” held at UUCEF, which is a regular endowment fund and not a trust].  The Pooled Income Fund has 
several years of delinquent returns. Along with a trust return, the annual filing requirements include an 
informational filing, Form 5227.  Unfortunately, the non-filing penalties for the Form 5227 are potentially 
severe – up to $12K per return (per year).  The Finance Committee is researching our options for 
minimizing penalties, and we will be moving forward very shortly with Byrne Seligman to prepare the 
returns.  
 
Financial Reports 
 
Budget Comparison Report, Current year-to-date (7/1/23 – 12/30/23): 
As with last month’s report, the following “Unrestricted/Budgeted Items Only” excludes restricted 
revenues and those expenses that are covered by special restricted funds.  Also excluded are depreciation, 
and realized/unrealized gains on our endowment and investment accounts.  
 

 Revenue is running at or ahead of budget in most categories.   
 Rent from the Schools appears ahead of budget by $33K, however this should be disregarded as 

the January 2024 rent was paid in advance.  School rental is actually “on budget.”   
 Salaries, benefits & consultants/contractor costs, when considered on a combined basis, are 

running just slightly under budget.   
 Professional development is over budget by $5K and includes training and costs of setting up our 

new minister’s office. 
 Utilities on a combined basis are currently running $5K under budget. 
 Accounting services is running slightly over budget ($1.6K) but we project that by the end of the 

fiscal year, we will run over by about $10K. The year-to-date costs have been running high due to 
catching up on eighteen months’ worth of accounting. In addition, we’ll need to pay $8 - $10K for 
our outside financial statement review by a CPA firm sometime in the spring.   

 Remaining expenses are running close to budget. 
 
Balance sheet, as of 12/30/23:   
A draft/preliminary balance sheet for 12/31/23 is attached.  The net asset section still needs reconciliation, 
but the bank and investment accounts are all reconciled and up to date.  The ongoing work to fully 
reconcile the TRNA accounts is very close to completion, and should be done in February.  



Unrestricted/Budgeted Items Only

Year-to-Date
Actual

Year-to-Date
Budget

Year-to-Date
Variance

Remaining
Budget

Pledge Income 302,323 310,000 (7,677) 132,677

Plate collections 12,631 10,000 2,631 7,369

Special Offering Collections 6,568 3,000 3,568 1,432

Good Neighbor collections 6,127 6,000 127 5,873

Other unpledged contributions 9,669 7,500 2,169 5,331

Member Weddings/Memorials/C 0 2,500 (2,500) 5,000

Prior Year Pledge Payments 29,030 4,750 24,280 (19,530)

Other Program Income 0 1,400 (1,400) 2,900

Craft Cottage Rental 16,238 19,200 (2,963) 22,163

Fundraising GrUUp Projects 7,978 6,250 1,728 2,522

Music Events 11,071 9,500 1,571 3,929

Community Use-Space Rental 65,011 69,000 (3,990) 84,990

Campus Rental-All Schools 198,278 165,096 33,182 131,915

Sales - Book Table 267 0 267 (267)

Other Revenue 421 7,500 (7,079) 14,579

Interest Income-general 4,060 5,000 (940) 5,940

Income from Trusts 3,986 3,870 116 3,754

673,657 630,567 43,091

Salary and Wages 269,543 266,993 (2,550) 264,443

Housing 31,297 42,000 10,703 52,703

SECA 4,463 6,792 2,329 9,120

Payroll Taxes 20,546 16,350 (4,196) 12,154

Employee Benefits-Health 17,966 17,456 (510) 16,946

Employee Benefits-Life/Disabil 1,176 900 (276) 624

Employee Benefits-Retirement 19,191 25,325 6,134 31,458

Insurance 19,559 15,750 (3,809) 11,941

Worker's Comp Insurance 1,817 3,750 1,933 5,683

Accounting Services 11,629 10,000 (1,629) 8,371

Board Contingencies 0 1,000 1,000 2,000

CT/ED Contingencies 0 1,000 1,000 2,000

Consultants/Contractors 10,261 2,500 (7,761) (5,261)

Safe congregation/Reopening T 171 250 79 329

Honoraria/Classes 1,000 0 (1,000) (1,000)

Guest Musicians/Ministers/Artist 3,195 1,250 (1,945) (695)

Supplies 3,951 5,250 1,299 7,549

Small Equipment 0 250 250 500

Equipment leases 2,555 3,900 1,345 5,245

Equipment repair & maintenance 2,175 1,150 (1,025) 125

Postage 43 350 307 657

Phones & Computers 4,608 2,750 (1,858) 892

Advertising and PR 2,681 2,500 (181) 2,319

Communications & Web Site 194 350 156 506

Online Resources 516 150 (366) (216)

Canvass Expenses/Stewardship 0 250 250 500

Property Taxes 11,772 10,597 (1,175) 9,422

Professional development 13,077 8,250 (4,827) 3,423

GA Delegate & Leadership Schl 300 0 (300) 2,700

Staff & volunteer appreciation 166 750 584 1,334

Bank Fees 1,996 1,375 (621) 754

Other Expense 1,084 1,250 166 1,416

Payroll Processing Fees 1,875 2,100 225 2,325

UUA Annual Program Dues 19,750 19,750 0 19,750

Loan Interest 169 400 231 231

2,750

2,500

4,200

39,500

400

300

500

21,194

16,500

3,000

1,500

7,800

2,300

700

5,500

5,000

700

5,000

500

0

2,500

11,500

500

50,649

31,500

7,500

20,000

2,000

2,000

533,986

84,000

13,583

32,700

34,911

1,800

15,000

10,000

7,740

Revenue 1,084,233

Expenses

38,400

10,500

15,000

150,000

330,193

0

8,000

12,000

15,000

5,000

9,500

2,900

Yearly
Budget

Revenue

435,000

20,000

1/30/2024  2:35pm Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley Page 1 of 1
Budget Comparison Report

Current Period: 12/1/2023 - 12/31/2023
Budget Period: 7/1/2023 - 6/30/2024



Building & grounds supplies 4,919 5,000 81 5,081

Building & grounds maintenance 8,064 11,000 2,936 13,936

Kitchen Supplies 0 250 250 500

Electricity 231 250 19 269

Gas 4,231 10,000 5,769 15,769

Garbage 3,202 4,250 1,048 5,298

Water 6,073 4,500 (1,573) 2,927

Fire Monitoring System 5,816 5,250 (566) 4,684

Other Program Committee Exps 10,456 12,264 1,808 16,144

Donations to Non-Profit Orgs 12,393 12,500 107 12,607

Fundraising event expense 1,003 1,500 497 1,997

535,112 539,451 4,339

138,545 91,116 47,429
Excess or (Deficiency) of 
Revenue Over Expenses (340)

10,500

26,600

25,000

3,000

Expenses 1,084,573

22,000

500

500

20,000

8,500

9,000

10,000



1/30/2024  12:14pm Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley Page 1 of 1
Balance Sheet

As of Date: 12/31/2023

Current Year Prior Year

Assets
Current Assets

Cash and Checking
Cash-Mechanics Checking #6489 4,386.25 168,648.51
Cash-Mechanics Savings #7963 173,571.78 198,178.09
Cash-Schwab Ameritrade (Cope) 407,312.62 400,743.47
Cash-Bank of the Internet 550.60 550.60
Cash-E-Trade #1737 0.26 31,534.45
Mechanics-Search Com 0.00 14,069.90

Total Cash and Checking 585,821.51 813,725.02

Receivables
Other Receivable 0.00 7,025.00

Total Receivables 0.00 7,025.00

Prepaids and Other
Prepaid expenses 4,294.00 0.00

Total Prepaids and Other 4,294.00 0.00

Unrestricted Investments
UUA-Board Designated Endowment #610888 839,345.79 767,177.28
UUA-Building Maintenance Fund 96,768.23 48,646.44
UUA-Ann Lane Memorial Fund 0.00 255,465.06

Total Unrestricted Investments 936,114.02 1,071,288.78

Temp Restricted Investments
UUA-Lawrence Lecture #610887 63,255.13 63,755.77
Calkins CRT-Payable to UUSC (41,282.67) (39,693.05)
Trust-Calkins Char Rmndr-Royal Bank Canada 342,311.25 311,518.38
Trust-Vanguard Pooled Income #9866 44,475.22 41,566.57
UUA-Anna Spatz Religious Ed 63,703.61 56,634.52
UUA-Armstrong Garden Endowment 15,613.55 13,880.94

Total Temp Restricted Investments 488,076.09 447,663.13

Perm Restricted Investments
UUA-Kay Davis Memorial #610945 134,348.29 130,013.54
UUA-Wm. Morgan Theological Ed Fund 32,753.80 29,119.16
UUA-Donor Restricted (Pooled) Fund #0028 371,179.35 80,245.25

Total Perm Restricted Investments 538,281.44 239,377.95

Total Current Assets 2,552,587.06 2,579,079.88

Fixed Assets
Land

Land - Church & RE Buildings 97,578.26 97,578.26
Land - Cottage 5,000.00 5,000.00
Land - Freestone 5,782.25 5,782.25
Land - Lexington Lodge 249,115.00 0.00

Total Land 357,475.51 108,360.51

Buildings & Improvements
Buildings - Church & RE 1,083,513.00 1,083,513.00
Bldg Improvemnts - Church & RE 3,126,917.60 3,115,593.60
Building - Cottage 34,341.67 34,341.67
Bldg Improvements - Cottage 112,005.63 112,005.63
Building  - Freestone 11,771.88 11,771.88
Bldg Improvements - Freestone 81,646.67 81,646.67
Building - Lexington Lodge 747,346.30 0.00
Bldg Imprv - Lexington Lodge 84,776.77 0.00

Total Buildings & Improvements 5,282,319.52 4,438,872.45

Other Fixed Assets
Organ 348,804.73 348,804.73

dra
ft



Office Equipment 134,719.35 134,719.35
Work in Progress 8,181.50 3,431.50

Total Other Fixed Assets 491,705.58 486,955.58

Accumulated Depreciation
Ac Depr Church Bldg (1,083,513.00) (1,083,513.00)
Ac Depr Church Improv (1,386,397.62) (1,284,153.46)
Ac Depr Cottage Bldg (26,917.06) (26,091.03)
Ac Depr Cottage Impr (11,336.54) (7,603.02)
Ac Depr Freestone Bldg (11,771.88) (11,771.88)
Ac Depr Freestone Imp (81,646.67) (81,646.67)
Ac Depr Lexington Bldg (6,227.89) 0.00
Ac Depr Organ (238,887.50) (227,912.63)
Ac Depr Office Eq (118,689.70) (114,305.03)

Total Accumulated Depreciation (2,965,387.86) (2,836,996.72)

Total Fixed Assets 3,166,112.75 2,197,191.82

Other Assets
Total Other Assets 0.00 0.00

Total Assets 5,718,699.81 4,776,271.70

Liabilities & Net Assets
Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable 8,058.17 12,140.18
Salaries Payable 0.00 536.64
Vacation Payable 20,943.91 10,399.28
Retirement Payable 2,665.54 2,199.24
Loans Payable 0.00 46,862.47
Rental & Reservation Deposits 10,973.00 6,812.67
School & Lease Secuirity Deposits 32,900.00 35,200.00

Total Current Liabilities 75,540.62 114,150.48

Total Liabilities 75,540.62 114,150.48

Net Assets
Unrestricted Net Assets

All Other Net Assets (19,373.73) 60,844.06
UUA-Board Designated Endowment #610888 839,345.79 767,177.28
UUA-Building Fund 96,768.23 48,646.44
Ladd Griffith Building Fund 120,258.80 63,328.47
Fixed Assets, Net of deprec 3,166,112.75 2,197,191.82
Endowment Maintenance 33,834.23 6,804.86
UUA-Ann Lane Fund 0.00 255,465.06

Total Unrestricted Net Assets 4,236,946.07 3,399,457.99

Temp Restricted Net Assets
Prepaid Pledges 82,146.42 62,173.14
Cope Ministerial Housing Fund 176,922.16 400,729.19
UUA-Armstrong Garden Fund 15,613.55 13,880.94
UUA-Lawrence Lecture Fund 63,255.13 63,755.77
UUA-Anna Spatz Religious Ed 63,703.61 56,634.52
RCB-Calkins Trust 301,028.58 271,825.33
Trust-Vanguard Pooled Income #9866 44,475.22 41,566.57
Ellis Music Fund 49,361.25 57,733.70
Freestone Mtce Fund 1,709.42 1,499.01
Partner Church 2,115.00 135.00
Peace Fund 9,448.25 9,448.25
Religious Education (822.64) 3,596.49
Social Justice Council 5,220.12 2,588.89
Widening the Circle 6,090.00 6,090.00
Nancy Kelly Fund 17,363.15 17,363.15
Special Projects 17,000.00 0.00
Ministers Discretionary Fund 13,302.46 14,265.33
UUA-Perm Pooled TRNA Portion 29,682.19 13,820.10
UUA-Wm. Morgan Theo Ed TRNA Portion 7,753.80 4,119.16

dra
ft



UUA-Kay Davis Fund TRNA Portion 34,348.29 30,013.54
Total Temp Restricted Net Assets 939,715.96 1,071,238.08

Perm Restricted Net Assets
UUA-Permanent Endowment Pooled 341,497.16 66,425.15
UUA-Wm. Morgan Theological Ed PRNA 25,000.00 25,000.00
UUA-Kay Davis Fund PERM Portion 100,000.00 100,000.00

Total Perm Restricted Net Assets 466,497.16 191,425.15

Total Net Assets 5,643,159.19 4,662,121.22

Total Liabilities & Net Assets 5,718,699.81 4,776,271.70

dra
ft



Report from the Freestone Oversight Committee

Larry Nagel
UUCB Board of Trustees Meeting

February 7, 2024



2February 7, 2024

The Freestone Oversight Committee (FOC)

● Beth Pollard (Board Rep)
● David Wemmer (Freestone Committee Rep)
● Alan Davis (Freestone Committee Rep)
● Tom Tripp
● Susan Lankford
● Larry Nagel

The Board may choose to add more members as necessary



3February 7, 2024

FOC Report Outline

● Update on listing Parcels 1 and 2 of the Freestone properties with 
Coldwell Banker Realtors in Sebastopol (information only)

● Update on the status of the Conservation Easement application 
for Parcels 1 and 2 and a large part of Parcel 4 of the Freestone 
properties (information only)

● Proposal by the Freestone Committee to open Freestone for 
daytime use on a limited basis (information only)



4February 7, 2024

Listing of Parcels 1 and 2

• The UUCB Board of Trustees approved the listing of Parcels 1 and 
2 of the Freestone properties at the January 10, 2024 Board of 
Trustees meeting

• The Freestone Committee has negotiated a listing agreement for 
Parcels 1 and 2 of the Freestone properties with Realtors Laura 
Richards and Kent Byers of Coldwell Banker in Sebastopol

• The commission for the sale will be 10%, which is standard for the 
sale of raw land



5February 7, 2024

Listing of Parcels 1 and 2

• Because the listing of properties will be in parallel with a continued 
pursuit of a conservation easement, Coldwell Banker will be entitled 
to a reimbursement of up to $2,000 for expenses incurred if the 
Freestone Committee decides not to sell after listing the properties

• The Realtors are waiting for a break in the weather so that they can 
visit the site and take drone pictures of the two parcels for listing of 
the properties on MLS

• Parcels 1 and 2 should be listed in MLS by mid February



6February 7, 2024

Conservation Easement (CE) Applications

• The FOC has been monitoring the Conservation Easement 
application process.   A Conservation Easement is governmental 
compensation to a landowner for permanently foregoing 
development on environmentally sensitive property.  

• The Freestone Committee has applied for an Agricultural Land 
Easement (ALE) 2024 grant through the Natural Resources 
Conservation Service (NRCS) department of the US Department of 
Agriculture.  The proposed easement includes Parcels 1 and 2 and 
a large portion of Parcel 4 where the dome resides.



7February 7, 2024

Conservation Easement (CE) Timeline

• The conservation easement application was submitted on 
December 13, 2023

• Revisions to the application were required and those are due on 
February 9, 2024

• The NRCS should give us some idea of our chances of receiving 
an easement in late February or early March, 2024

• The NRCS will make a final decision by September 29, 2024

• No further Conservation Easements are being pursued at this time



8February 7, 2024

Opening Freestone for Daytime Use

• The Freestone Committee is proposing to open Freestone for 
daytime use on a limited basis for small groups of UUCB members, 
and the Freestone Oversight Committee will be reviewing the 
proposal

• The FOC has asked the Freestone Committee to identify how 
safety concerns will be sufficiently addressed to allow for daytime 
use

• All usage would be chaperoned by a qualified person

• The proposal will have to be approved by the Freestone Oversight 
Committee and the Board of Trustees



February 7, 2024 9

FY 2023-24 Freestone Contingency Loan Fund - 1
Expenditure Amount Approve Date Notes

Vacation rental property 
manager certification 
County fee

$116.00 FOC
August 30, 2023

Reimburse Michael 
DeWitt

County recorders fee 
related to VRP

$19.50 FOC
August 30, 2023

Reimburse David 
Wemmer

Lescure Engineers $1,810.00
FOC
August 30, 2023

Completion of mapping; 
driveway analysis and 
mapping; including road 
permitting and septic 
system



February 7, 2024 10

FY 2023-24 Freestone Contingency Loan Fund -2
Expenditure Amount Approve Date Notes

Lescure Engineers $392.50
FOC
January 10, 2024

Surveying conultations 
to evaluate extent of 
encroachment issues by 
neighbors at the Villa

Total $2,338.00

FY 2023-24 Limit $7,500.00

FY 2023-34 Remaining $5,162.00



11February 7, 2024

Freestone Oversight Committee Report

Discussion/Questions



UNITARIAN UNIVERSALIST CHURCH OF BERKELEY 
Congregational Meeting Agenda 

 Sunday, February 11, 2024 
 Following the 11 am Worship Service and Lunch 

In-person in the Sanctuary AND Via Zoom Video Conference 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3844641385?

pwd=VlE2NWIrRGZNZFlwQkg4SXFoVUo3Zz09&omn=81976789416  
Meeting ID: 384 464 1385  Password: 5250302 

For access or technical assistance contact: techsupport@uucb.org  
Child Care is available at the Good Earth School 

Approximately 12:45 PM 

1. Call to Order
2. Convene

a. Quorum Count
b. Chalice Lighting
c. Covenant Reading
d. Land Acknowledgment Reading

3. Consent Agenda:

a. Adoption of Agenda

b. Approval of March 26, 2023, May 7, 2023 and May 21, 2023 Congregational
Meeting Minutes

4. Staff Introductions and Appreciation

5. Presentation of Flaming Chalice Awards for Extraordinary Service:  Don Klose,
Ladie Malek, Melissa Rosales, Anne Wardell (listed alphabetically by last name)

6. Reports:

a. Stewardship Committee

b. Endowment Capital Projects Oversight Committee

c. Freestone Oversight Committee

7. Board of Trustees:

a. Call for General Assembly Delegates

b. Committee on Ministry

c. Recognition of outgoing Board of Trustee members: Bill Brown, Cordell Sloan,
and Randall Hudson

d. Results of Board of Trustees Election

e. Installation of Board of Trustees

8. Benediction

9. Adjournment

There will be a brief Board of Trustees meeting immediately afterward to elect Board officers. 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3844641385?pwd=VlE2NWIrRGZNZFlwQkg4SXFoVUo3Zz09
mailto:techsupport@uucb.org


For the Board of Trustees Mee0ng of:  February 7, 2024 
From:  Board Governance Manual Task Force (Board Members Kay Fairwell & Beth Pollard) 
Subject:  Update on Governance Manual Review - DraO revisions 
 
 
At the January 2024 Board mee0ng, we presented a draO updated Governance Manual we were 
asked to prepare, with an eye for upda0ng its provisions to reflect current prac0ces and/or best 
prac0ces that have come to our aTen0on.   
 
Also aTached is a summary of the proposed revisions contained in the draO. In italics are those 
revisions that came to our aTen0on since the January mee0ng. Of note are revisions suggested 
by the Endowment CommiTee Chair, Anita Mermel, for improving clarity on the Endowment 
provisions. 
 
The Board is invited to make addi0onal changes or proceed with adop0on of the updated 
manual.  
 
Please note that the numbering of the sec0ons will be corrected/updated once there is a final 
adopted manual.   
 
The current Governance Manual can be found on the UUCB Website at: 
About/Governance:  Scroll down the page to Governance Manual.  hTps://uucb.org/about-
us/governance/ 
 
 
 

https://uucb.org/about-us/governance/
https://uucb.org/about-us/governance/


 1 

Dra$ Proposed Revisions to Board Governance Manual 
February 7, 2024 

 
 
CongregaAon Authority, DirecAon and Covenant: 
 
1.  Governance Founda/on:  Added a new founda/onal sec/on summarizing the purpose and authority 
for the Governance Manual as provided for in the bylaws, along with no/ng the UUCB Covenant of 
Right Rela/ons.  
 
Board Governance: 
 
2.  Board Governance philosophy/approach:  Consolidated language for clarity and conciseness. 
 
3.  Manual update: Added a provision for reviewing/upda/ng the Governance Manual as a whole 
approximately every 4 years; the Board can s/ll update the manual incrementally with new, changed or 
deleted policies. 
 
4.  Zoom: Incorporated the prac/ce of conduc/ng regular Board mee/ngs via Zoom to help enable 
aMendance. 
 
5.  Execu/ve Sessions: Summarized that Execu/ve Sessions can be held only for purposes contained in 
the bylaws, with the nota/on that they typically take place prior to the start of the regular mee/ng and 
include personal check-ins for team building purposes. 
 
6.  Discussion/Ac/on items: Provided more defini/on for items on the discussion/ac/on agenda as 
per/nent to the Board’s role being focused on mission, vision, policy, and strategic planning, as well as 
discernment on values and goals, impact on ministry, financial health, oversight role, and fiduciary and 
moral leadership by the Board. 
 
7.  Co-officers: Board policy allowance for Board elec/on of co-officers for President, Vice-President, 
Secretary and Treasurer, with proviso that there is a report to the Board on how du/es and 
responsibili/es will be handled. 
 
8.  Conflict of Interest: Expanded the applica/on of the Conflict of Interest policy beyond Trustees and 
Staff to also include members of the Board CommiMees on Finance, Endowment, and Audit. 
 
9.  Audit CommiMee:  Cleaned up the Audit CommiMee language to simply reflect that it oversees 
whatever financial reviews, audits or compila/ons are required in the bylaws. 
 
10. Board Liaisons: Added a sec/on describing the du/es and responsibili/es of Board Liaisons to 
commiMees. 
 
 
 
 
DelegaAon to the Staff and Lay Leadership: 
 



 2 

11. Search CommiMees for Hiring Senior Staff:  Clarified that the Minister will consult with the Board on 
the composi/on of search commiMees for senior staff posi/ons; prior language was ambiguous. 
 
12.  Grievance:  Clarified that employees may use the grievance process for termina<on ac<ons. 
 
Care for Members, AcAve AJendees and Visitors: 
 
13. Handbooks:  Removed provision about requirements for Board commiMees to develop, maintain 
and report to the Board on commiMee handbooks, and staff to track their review cycles, as being an 
unnecessary blanket approach.  WriMen procedures for work per/nent to the commiMee would s/ll be 
encouraged. 
 
14. Membership:  Clarified the Board delegates to the Minister the responsibility for ensuring there is 
an annual review of the membership roll by staff, with congrega/onal advisors as appropriate, to 
determine membership standing and eligibility to vote, and to report the membership number to the 
Board and to the UUA. 
 
Care for Financial Resources: 
 
15. Purchasing/Contrac/ng: Authorizes non-compe//ve bids for projects that are emergencies or 
where there is no viable alterna/ve. 
 
16. Fundraising: Includes a provision that publicity for special purposes or program-related fundraising 
should not conflict with major All-Church/General Fund fundraising. 
 
17. Plate Dona<ons:  Added policy language suppor<ng the Good Neighbor dona<on prac<ce and 
Christmas Eve plate dona<ons going to the Minister’s Discre<onary Fund. 
 
Endowment Commi,ee and Endowment Fund Investment Policy: 
 
18. Seeking new giKs: Expanded on educa<ng the congrega<on about the benefits of bequests. 
 
19. Endowment GiK Terms: Noted that the EC will work with the donor’s Estate Executor/Representa<ve 
on confirming donor’s wishes for the bequest. 
 
20. Base Payout:  Clarified policy language on the annual disbursement to more precisely reflect 
calcula<on methodology. 
 
21. Other:  Inserted “Endowment” to clarify applicability to endowment funds/giKs only. 
 
Oversight: 
 
22.  Goals:  Added that the Board is responsible for annually establishing goals and reviewing UUCB’s 
progress in mee/ng the prior year goals. 
 



 1 

 
 

Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley 

Governance Manual and Policy Book 

Adopted by the Board of Trustees 

February 7, 2024 Draft 
 

Last Update: 1-4-23 
 
 
  



 2 

Table of Contents:  
(Note: Numbering to be updated upon finalization) 
 

Congregation Authority, Direction and Covenant 

Principles, Mission, Visions, and Ends Statements 

Board Governance 

Delegation to the Staff and Lay Leadership 

Care for Paid Staff 

Lay Leadership 

Care for Members, Active Attendees, and Visitors 

Care for Financial Resources 

Endowment Committee and Endowment Fund Investment Policy 

Care for Physical Resources 

Communication 

Affiliation with External Organizations 

Oversight 

 
 

CONGREGATION AUTHORITY, DIRECTION, AND 
COVENANT 
Congregation Authority and Direction 
The Bylaws of the Unitarian Universalist Church establishes a Board of Trustees as its 
governing body. 
Section 6.1 of the Bylaws states that the Board of Trustees shall establish and maintain a 
Governance Manual, and that this manual shall:  

1. Specify broad policies, priorities, and long-range goals for the Church; 

2. Specify how day-to-day management responsibilities are delegated by the 
Board to other persons, groups, and/or committees; 

3. Specify how the Board shall monitor and assess the performance of the 
persons, groups, and/or committees; 

4. Specify what procedures will be employed by the Board when it modifies the 
manual; 

5. Serve as a record of ongoing policy decisions made by the Board; and 



 3 

6. Be made available to all church members on request. 
 
Under the authority and direction in the UUCB Bylaws, the Board of Trustees has adopted 
this Governance Manual. As policies continue to be created and refined, the Board will 
update the Governance Manual and make the updated manual readily available to the 
congregation. 
This Governance Manual is subordinate to California state law and to the Church’s Bylaws. 
Its purpose is to affirm essential values of the church; establish consistent policies and 
procedures of church governance; provide guidance to all constituencies of the Church 
about its governance; and educate and inform new participants in Church governance 
processes. 
The Board records all of its actions in its minutes. Board actions intended to authorize 
others to make decisions or to control multiple decisions over time will be considered 
Board policy and will be recorded in the Governance Manual.  
 
Covenant 
The Board of Trustees commits to operating within the Covenant of the church, as 
approved by the Congregation. 

Principles, Mission, Vision and Ends Statements 
A. Unitarian Universalist Association (UUA) Principles 

In performing its duties and responsibilities as a Board of Trustees of a member 
congregation of the Unitarian Universalist Association (UUA), the Board affirms and 
promotes the UUA Principles in their entirety. 

B. Mission Statement of the Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley 

The mission of the Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley is to create loving community, 
inspire spiritual growth, and encourage lives of integrity, joy, and service. 

C. Vision Statement of the Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley 
The Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley is a welcoming and vibrant congregation. 
We joyously support spiritual development guided by individual faith, reason, and 
conscience. We are committed to serving one another, the church community, the 
community at large, and the global community. We foster a spirit of generosity and trust 
that encourages care for our church home, and affirm diversity and relationships consistent 
with Unitarian Universalist principles. 
 

D. Widening the Circle of Concern Vision Statement  



 4 

We, the trustees of the Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley, have heard the urgent 
call to Racial Justice. We commit ourselves to championing racial justice, embodying anti-
racist practices, and confronting and dismantling white supremacy culture and all forms of 
oppression (including but not limited to racism, sexism, ableism, homophobia, transphobia, 
classism, ageism, and xenophobia) in everything we do.  We commit ourselves to working 
towards “Widening Our Circle” by embracing the following principles:  

Congregational spiritual practice and actions of anti-racism and anti-oppression are 
essential to our congregational life.   

Continuous learning and healing are necessary on this journey toward Racial Justice 
because racism and oppression are persistent, ever-changing and embedded in our 
psyches and societal structures.  In our search for truth and meaning, we grow in 
awareness, recognizing that our actions have consequences. 

Accountability and responsibility for eliminating white supremacy, racism and 
oppression are crucial to all we do personally and as a congregation and church 
organization.  

Brave perseverance guides us. We know the way forward will not be easy. As we face 
hard truths about ourselves and within our current congregational culture, we stay in the 
room when things get difficult.  

Worship supports spiritual growth and radical inclusion and is a time for reflection 
and introspection. We recognize that not every worship service will speak to all.  

Broadening our perspective brings joy as we see a world opening us up to new 
possibilities, new partnerships and change we never could have envisioned.  

We strive to lead our children by example so that they too will become anti-racism and 
anti-oppression agents of change.  

White supremacy culture is pervasive, personal, and abhorrent.  It is not “out there,” 
somewhere else, in someone else.  We strive to remain vigilant in acknowledging the 
effects of white supremacy culture in ourselves and our congregation, that we may heal 
and grow toward our chosen values. 

Doing the work is vital—educating ourselves, creating inclusive worship services, 
developing emotional tools for responding to criticism and change, and becoming 
consequential in the wider community.  

We always ask ourselves, “How will we widen our circle?  How will we matter to the 
world?” 

 



 5 

E. Ends Statements 

 
(Ends approved by the Board of Trustees May 2, 2018) 
 

1. BOARD GOVERNANCE 
1.1. Philosophy of Governance 
While fulfilling the specific roles and responsibilities spelled out for it in the congregational 
Bylaws, the Board intends to govern primarily by: 

• Discerning, articulating, and promoting the long-term mission, vision and well-
being of the congregation; 

• Being accountable to the moral ownership of the church; the moral owners are 
everyone on whose behalf the Board pursues the mission of the church, 
including past, present, and future members of the church; 

• Setting goals and making strategic choices;  
• Creating and sharing written policies to guide the congregation’s ministry; 
• Monitoring and evaluating the congregation’s leadership, including the Board 

itself; 
• Working in partnership with the Minister, staff, other leaders, and the 

congregation towards achieving the mission 

UUCB is a vibrant multicultural, anti-racist, anti-oppressive congregation: 
Reaching Out 

We embody and share Unitarian Universalism. 
Our communities experience UUCB as an active and dynamic partner in 
pursuing societal and environmental justice. 
People rely on UUCB in times of need. 

Reaching In 
We invite people of goodwill to make a spiritual home with us. 
We celebrate the diversity of our congregation in the fullness of who we are. 
We reach out to one another across differences to connect in shared purpose. 
We have fun! 

Building Up 
We are generous with our time, talent, and treasure. 
We steward our financial resources responsibly. 
We are comfortable, open, and transparent in discussing both personal and 
congregational financial matters. 



 6 

1.2 The Work of the Board of Trustees  
The Board’s work and work products can be summarized as follows: 
Providing leadership in a changing environment by: 

• Creating and updating the congregational Mission, Vision and Ends1. 
• Reviewing, updating, and creating policies to guide decisions and actions. 
• Strategic planning, including environmental analysis2, long-range projections, 

engaging in discernment about the future,  
• Setting annual goals and objectives to guide budgeting, staff planning, and 

Board agendas and direction. 
Assuring the financial sustainability of the congregation through: 

• Strategic short- and long-term financial planning. 
• Recommending an annual budget for congregational approval and assuring 

effective programs of giving. 
• Authorizing capital campaigns. 

Providing oversight and monitoring by: 
• Overseeing compliance with state and federal law. 
• Evaluating congregational performance on Mission. 
• Evaluating the Board’s own performance on key functions. 
• Review of financial position relative to budget and balance sheet 
• Evaluating the Minister’s(s’) performance in a model of partnership. 

Ensuring engagement of the congregation by: 
• Reporting to the congregation. 
• Providing opportunities for open communication, discernment and partnership. 

1.3 Policy Development and Adoption 
Proposals for new policies or for amendments to existing policies will typically come from 
the Board. Other church groups, members or staff who wish to propose a change in policy 
may contact a Board member. 

 
1 Ends relate not to what we will be doing, but to the difference we intend to make in 
people's lives. Ends get right to the heart of why a congregation exists. The Board of 
Trustees first adopted Ends, which it reviewed and revised periodically, when UUCB 
transitioned to “policy-based governance,” and began using some of the Policy 
Governance® methodology created by John Carver. The Board approved the current Ends 
in 2018, after a process with the congregation facilitated by the Revs. Schmidt. 
2 Environmental Analysis is the process that examines all the components, internal or 
external, that have an influence on the performance of the organization. The internal 
components indicate the strengths and weakness of the entity whereas the external 
components represent the opportunities and threats outside the organization. 



 7 

The Board will strive to consider significant new policies or significant amendments to 
existing policies over at least two meetings, to give time for reflection and evaluation, and 
for stakeholders to share any comments with the Board.  
A new or amended policy must be approved by a majority vote of the Board. The Board 
Secretary will maintain records of the approved changes, add approved policies to the  
Governance Manual at least annually, and note the change in a Log of Changes. 
Approximately every four years, or more frequently if needed, the Board shall appoint a 
task force to review and propose updates to the Governance Manual to reflect changed 
conditions, revised governance insights, or updated Board direction. 

1.4 Board Meetings 
The Board of Trustees shall hold regular meetings in accordance with the Bylaws. These 
meetings shall be scheduled and publicized to the congregation through posting on the 
church website. Notice of any special meetings of the Board, other than Executive 
Sessions, shall be posted on the church website and, if feasible, via electronic 
communication. 
Regular meetings of the Board typically will take place on an electronic conference 
platform, such as Zoom; at the minimum this platform helps enable attendance by 
Trustees and congregants who may have home responsibilities, be traveling, or are 
otherwise restricted. Meetings typically will be recorded. In instances of time urgency, the 
President may call for a vote of the Board by email. Any action so taken must be 
unanimous per California law.  
All Board meetings and the records thereof shall be open to UUCB members, except as 
provided for in the Bylaws. Attendance by persons other than UUCB members may be 
authorized by the Board President, Minister, or Executive Director. 

1.4.1 Executive Session 

The Board President is authorized to convene meetings of the Board that are not open to 
the congregation, for purposes pursuant to the Bylaws. Such meetings are called 
Executive Sessions, and also may be called Board retreats, Board team building, or Board 
training. The Board typically will meet in Executive Session prior to the start time of the 
regular meeting, at a time designated by the Board President, and may also take place 
after the conclusion of the regular meeting if called by the Board President. Agenda items 
in Executive Session are limited to those provided for in the Bylaws; this includes personal 
check-ins from individual Board members for purposes of team building.  

1.4.2 Agenda Setting 

The agenda for the Board of Trustees meetings shall be established by the President; 
other Board members, the Minister(s), and Executive Director may provide input. 
Congregants may ask any Board member to request items be included in the agenda, but 
must do so at least two weeks before the meeting unless otherwise permitted by the 
President. The inclusion and/or timing of the item on the agenda is at the discretion of the 
President. The agenda and related materials shall be made available to Board members 
and published to the website at least two days prior to the meeting. 



 8 

1.4.3 Use of Consent Agenda 
The Consent Agenda contains items of information and routine or administrative actions. 
Usual Consent Agenda items will include minutes of the previous meeting (for formal 
approval); informational reports from Board Committees, Task Forces, Officers, the 
Program Council or its programs, and Staff; or Board appointments.  Any Board member 
may request that any item be removed for questions or separate consideration.  The 
President will decide where on the agenda a removed item will be considered. 

1.4.4 Discussion/Action Agenda 
The Discussion/Action agenda is intended primarily for matters calling for Board 
deliberation and direction on mission, vision, policy, and strategic planning. Other items 
might include issues requiring Board discernment on values or goals; that are of significant 
impact on ministry, finances or the health of the church; that pertain to the Board’s 
oversight role or require fiduciary or moral leadership by the Board. Additional examples 
include consideration of information presented by a task force, committee or team.  

1.4.5 The Board Packet 
The board packet will contain the following: 

• A reminder of the time and place of the meeting, including the video conference 
link 

• Minutes of the previous meeting (latest draft) 
• Reports from the Executive Director and Treasurer 
• Any written materials from the Minister 
• Reports from Committees, Task Forces and Teams as appropriate 
• A listing of consent agenda items 
• A listing of discussion/action agenda items, preferably one to three in number. 

Background information about each new discussion/action agenda item.  Items 
of significant length shall include a one- or two-page summary of what the Board 
is being asked to consider. 

1.5 Board Officers  

1.5.1 Election of Officers 

Board members will elect the officer positions of Board President, Vice President, 
Secretary, and Treasurer at a special Board meeting immediately following the February 
Congregational Meeting. 
 
The Board may elect two of its members to serve as Co-Presidents or Co-Vice Presidents, 
The Board may appoint two members of the congregation to serve as Co-Secretary or Co-
Treasurer. Upon election or appointment of co-officers to a position, those co-officers shall 
report back to the Board by the next regular meeting on how the duties and responsibilities 
of the position will be met by the two individuals, for purposes of clarity and accountability. 



 9 

1.5.2 Board Officer Responsibilities  
In addition to any duties defined by the Article 7 of the Bylaws, the officers have the 
following responsibilities: 

• The Board President prepares the Board’s agenda, facilitates or arranges for 
facilitation of Board and Congregational meetings, and works in partnership with 
the Minister(s) and Executive Director to ensure productive partnership between 
the Board and staff. 

• The Vice President assists and substitutes for the Board President upon 
request, chairs the Nominating Committee, and oversees congregational 
elections. The Vice President convenes the Awards Committee, although the 
President may appoint to this role a past president who is serving on the Board.  

• The Secretary ensures the accuracy and accessibility of Board records, 
including the minutes and Board policies. The Secretary prepares draft minutes 
for review by the President and Vice President within a week following each 
meeting and within two weeks of the meeting distributes them to the full Board. 
The Secretary ensures records of minutes are maintained for permanent church 
access in accordance with any church archive policy and sees that they are 
promptly posted on the church website.  

• The Treasurer supports fulfillment of the Board’s financial oversight 
responsibilities by working with the staff to ensure that appropriate financial 
reports are made available to Board members on a timely basis. The Treasurer 
chairs the Finance Committee. 

1.6 Board Covenant and Code of Conduct  

We as the UUCB Board of Trustees agree:  
To stay committed to the practice of right relations, especially when we 

disagree;  
To recognize the trust, and the many responsibilities that this “sacred 

commitment” signifies;  
To listen attentively to each other and the congregation, and to make yourselves 

available to have those conversations;  
To be caring, respectful, present and open-minded;  
To work together to make the changes the congregation needs, as we keep the 

best interests of the congregation above our own;  
To support and trust each other in our work;  
To remember the goal of our work is to build a thriving, loving congregation and 

to live into our mission; 
To be unafraid in the face of hard decisions, to be unafraid of making mistakes, 

knowing that we will learn from them if we do, and to be unafraid of 
challenging  sacred cows; and 

To come to decisions we all feel we can support while recognizing diverse 
views.  



 10 

By accepting membership in the Board of Trustees, each Trustee acknowledges their legal 
and moral responsibilities to act on behalf of the church and to fulfill the obligations of 
Board membership; specifically, Trustees are expected to: 

1. Be loyal to the interests of the mission of the congregation, above personal 
preferences, friendships or other allegiances. 

2. Accept that the Board shall speak with one voice. Although unanimity is not 
required, the Board’s group decision must be upheld by all members of the Board 
as if it had been a decision that each made individually. No member has the 
authority to speak for the Board unless specifically authorized to do so by the whole 
Board. When expressing their personal views to other congregants, Board members 
should strive to avoid possible misunderstandings in such communications, if that 
potential exists, by making it explicit that a personal opinion is being expressed. 

3. Adhere to these norms of Board practices: 
• Send reports, corrections to the draft minutes, and background information for 

decisions to the secretary in a timely fashion, ideally 5 days prior to the meeting. 
• Communicate if you cannot attend the meeting or will be late. 
• Read reports, minutes, agenda, and information to prepare for the meeting. 
• Respect each other’s time. This means a conscious attempt to self-monitor how 

much "space" you need to occupy when raising your concerns. 
• Share the workload and be willing to ask for support. 

1.7 Conflicts of Interest  
This policy reflects the Board’s determination: 

1) to prevent the personal interest of elected or appointed Trustees and members 
of financial Board committees from interfering with the performance of their 
duties to the church, and 

2) to prevent such members from receiving personal, financial, or professional gain 
at the expense of the church. 

Elected and appointed Trustees, and members of Board Committees on Finance, 
Endowment and Audit are therefore required to disclose any competing financial, 
professional, or personal obligations or interests that interfere, could interfere, or could 
reasonably have the appearance of interfering with their ability to perform their required 
duties in a fair and objective manner. Such disclosure and any Board action relating to the 
disclosure shall be recorded in the meeting minutes. 
This policy is intended to supplement but not replace any applicable state laws governing 
conflicts of interest applicable to nonprofits and religious organizations. 
A conflict of interest is defined as a conflict between the private interests and official 
responsibilities of a member of the Board of Trustees. This includes, but is not limited to, 
the following: 

Financial interest: receiving personal gifts or loans from third parties dealing or 
competing with the church; having any kind of financial interest in any third party 
dealing with the church. 



 11 

Personal interest: relationship to another Board member, employee, or contractor 
of the church by blood, adoption, marriage, or domestic partnership. 
Professional Interest: holding office, serving on the board, participating in 
management or ownership, or being otherwise employed (or formerly employed) by 
any third party dealing with the church; using church time, personnel, equipment, or 
supplies for other than church approved activities, programs, and purposes; being in 
a position with another organization that leads to approaching the same donors on 
behalf of both organizations. 

1.8 Accountability and Removal of Board Members 

The Board commits itself and its members to ethical, professional, and lawful conduct, 
including proper use of authority and appropriate decorum when acting as Board members 
and officers. The Board has the right to hold members accountable, including when they 
fail in their duties or disrupt the body's work, with a maximum sanction of expulsion from 
the Board. 
Examples of inappropriate conduct include, but are not limited to: 

• Concealing or ignoring conflicts of interest. 
• Violating confidentiality regarding matters discussed in Executive Session. 
• Exerting unapproved individual authority over the organization. 
• Making unapproved public statements to outside entities. 
• Being repeatedly absent from Board meetings. 
• Violating the Bylaws. 
• Violating the Board or Church Covenant in a serious and/or continued manner. 

Before a vote to remove a Board member, the Board shall provide written advance notice 
to the member of its intent and offer the member the opportunity for a hearing before the 
Board. Removal of a Board member shall require a vote of at least two-thirds of the 
remaining Board members. 

1.9 Board Committees, Task Forces and Teams 
The Board of Trustees establishes ongoing Committees, and finite-termed Task Forces 
and Teams to accomplish specific objectives as defined by the Board. These bodies assist 
the Board in governing and are generally not for administration, program management, or 
to make decisions on the Board’s behalf.  
Board Committees, Task Forces, and Teams will report to the Board at least annually on 
work completed, underway and contemplated, and any recommendations for new or 
amended Board policy or other actions.  Board Committees, Task Forces, and Teams will 
not speak or act for the Board unless given specific authority to do so. 
 
Board Committees, Task Forces, and Teams may include one or more Trustees as voting 
members. The Board will approve appointment of Committee, Task Force and Team 



 12 

members, or may delegate that appointing authority to the Board liaison or Board member 
of the Board Committee. 
 
Due to the financial and fiduciary nature of the Finance Committee, Endowment 
Committee, and Audit Committee, members of those Committees shall adhere to the 
Board Conflict of Interest policy in Section 1.6. 

1.9.1 Finance Committee 

The role of the Finance Committee (FC) is to bridge an important administrative middle 
ground and provide better communication and another layer of oversight among the Board, 
Treasurer, and Executive Director. The FC will be the stand-in for the Congregation, a 
back-stop and partner to the Treasurer and Executive Director (ED) and will assist as 
needed in turning data into useful "information" (a primary job of both the Treasurer and 
the ED). 

The overall purpose of the FC is to assist the Board in its oversight of the congregation’s 
finances. The committee’s work may include:  

• Ensuring that routine financial reports, such as the monthly Treasurer’s report, are 
clear and useful.   

• Helping to educate Board members to have an adequate understanding of the 
congregation’s financial status. 

• Taking responsibility for thoroughly understanding the annual budget and acting as 
a stand-in for the Board, so the Board does not have to go over the budget line-by-
line.  

• Providing support to the ED, Treasurer, and staff when asked for financial 
information by the Board.  

• Providing support on an as-needed basis to staff, Treasurer, and stakeholders to 
prepare the annual draft budget for the May Congregational Meeting.  

• Developing and reviewing church financial policies, as well as procedures to 
implement those policies. Documenting all policies and working with the Board 
Secretary to have new policies or eliminated policies appropriately reflected in the 
UUCB Governance Manual and/or Bylaws. 

• Creating a checklist of items to review as part of year-end closing of the books. 
• Frequency of Meetings: In non-audit years, the FC typically will meet quarterly 

unless otherwise directed by the Board or in case of fiscal emergency. 
 

1.9.2 Endowment Committee 
The overall purpose of the Endowment Committee is to manage, invest, and grow the 
assets of the congregation that are the result of bequests and other contributions to the 
church’s Endowment or Quasi-Endowment (aka Board-designated Endowment) (see 
Bylaws 9.2.2). The Endowment Committee is also tasked with encouraging such bequests 
and contributions. The Endowment Committee shall exercise oversight of all Endowment 
and Quasi-Endowment assets, including recommendations of off-campus money 



 13 

managers.0F

3 It shall recommend to the Board how investment of those assets shall be 
managed, consistent with the Bylaws and this Governance Manual. The Board may 
delegate such oversight responsibility to the Endowment Committee with respect to 
specific assets of the church that do not otherwise qualify as True or Quasi-Endowments.1F

4 
Unless otherwise directed by the Board, the Endowment Committee shall undertake efforts 
to grow the Endowment and the Quasi-Endowment by encouraging the congregation to 
make acceptable gifts to the church for this purpose, consistent with the policies set forth 
in the Bylaws of the Church and this Governance Manual.2F

5 
The Endowment Committee shall be composed of at least three members approved by the 
Board of Trustees.  Each member shall be appointed to a three-year term, which may be 
renewed for a total of six years.  In the absence of qualified members, a current member 
may exceed the six-year limitation until the Endowment Committee is able to both find and 
train replacement members who can then function effectively.  In addition, the current 
Board Treasurer shall serve in an ex officio capacity on the Endowment Committee and 
attend meetings.     
See Section 7, Endowment Fund Investment Policy 

1.9.3 Audit Committee  

The Board of Trustees will appoint a three-member Audit Committee including at least one 
current Board member other than the Treasurer. The committee is responsible for 
choosing and securing an auditor, financial reviewer, or other independent financial 
oversight functions that are required under the Bylaws. The committee receives and 
reviews the auditor’s or the financial reviewer’s report and findings, and reports on the 
audit or financial review to the full Board of Trustees at the meeting of the Board 
immediately following receipt of the report.   

1.9.4 Awards Committee 

The Awards Committee shall be comprised of past presidents of the Board of Trustees 
who are currently UUCB members and the incumbent Vice President, who shall serve as 
its convener. 
The Committee shall recommend to the Board of Trustees a list of names to receive the 
church’s Flaming Chalice, Schweitzer Medal, and any other special awards, as defined in 
the Awards Policy. Upon approval of the award recipients by the Board, the Committee is 
responsible for notifying the recipients and arranging for the presentation of the awards at 
a congregational meeting. 

 
3 Currently managed by the UUA. 
4 E.g., in the past and currently, Endowment Committee oversight has included the Calkins Trust, a Pooled 
Endowment Fund, and Lawrence Lecture Fund, three examples. Oversight entails checking on the rate of 
return of each fund at their respective financial institutions and responding to queries re these funds by the 
Board and other interested parties in the Congregation, e.g., Treasurer of the Lawrence Lecture Fund. 
5 E.g., in the past, this has taken the form of "Wake Now Our Vision", sponsored by Shelter Rock UU 
Congregation and the UUA, and by our own internal work in growing our Maybeck Legacy Society 
membership wherein the EC records UUCB members intentions to leave UUCB something in their wills or 
Trusts. The EC also is committed to making a more concerted effort to provide education to the 
Congregation at large on acceptable wording for designating UUCB as a recipient of bequests from estates 
and gifts while Congregants are still living. 



 14 

See Also: Awards Policy 
       Awards Summary  

1.9.5 Bylaws Task Force 

In accordance with the Bylaws, the Board of Trustees shall appoint an independent Bylaws 
Review Task Force at least once every three years. The Task Force shall consist of at 
least five members with no more than two members of the Board of Trustees. The Task 
Force shall review the Bylaws for relevance, appropriateness, and agreement and 
consistency with the Governance Manual, and follow the provisions in the Bylaws for 
recommending amendments. 
See Also: Bylaws 9.6 

1.9.6 Widening the Circle Committee  
The charge of the Widening the Circle Committee is to be a supportive and advisory 
visionary body and working group that works in collaboration with UUCB programs to aid 
UUCB’s growth and commitment to being an Anti-Racist, Anti-Oppressive, Equitable and 
Inclusive congregation and church organization.  
The committee and staff will discern the use of the currently proposed recommendations 
and develop with the congregation, over time, new ideas and action plans that support the 
spirit and intent of the UUA’s Widening the Circle Of Concern book. The committee’s work 
may include:  

• Supporting and coordinating the implementation of Board-approved 
recommendations from the Widening the Circle of Concern Task Force report 
(released August 2021).  

• Coordinating the discussion of the Widening the Circle of Concern Task Force 
report within the congregation to ensure understanding of and promote engagement 
with the work.  

• Working in concert with the Education for Liberation Development Team (ELDT). 
The ELDT would report to the Widening the Circle Committee.  

• Regularly communicating with the congregation to ensure that UUCB programs are 
following through on the congregation’s commitment to Anti-Racism, Anti-
Oppression, Equity and Inclusion.  

• Giving guidance in accordance with ongoing recommendations from the 
Commission on Institutional Change of the UUA, which includes providing expertise 
to and collaborating with staff so that staff and congregational values are congruent.  
 

The Widening the Circle Committee includes up to two Board members, the Executive 
Director and Minister (ex-officio) and seven other church members with commitment to 
Anti-Racism and Anti-Oppression work, approved by the Board of Trustees. Each member 
shall be appointed to a term of one to three years, which may be renewed for a total of six 
years. In the absence of interested members, a current member may exceed the six-year 
limitation until the Widening the Circle Committee is able to both find and train replacement 
members who can then function effectively. 
 
1.10 Board Liaisons 



 15 

 
Annually the Board will designate a Liaison to each Board Committee and to other 
committees or program areas of the church, at the Board’s discretion. 
• Board Liaisons will serve each committee either through attendance at committee 

meetings or through consistent communication with the Chair of each committee. 
• Board Liaisons will suggest agenda items to the Board President when issues of 

concern to a committee warrant consideration by the Board.   
• A high priority for each Liaison is to represent and continually inform the Board of the 

life of each committee. 
• Board Liaisons will educate committees on new Board policies or other work of the 

Board relevant to the Committee. Each Liaison serves as an educator to the 
Congregation through committee conversation about the processes of the Board. 

• Board Liaisons will provide guidance and support to committees during the budget 
development process. 

• Board Liaisons will provide input and guidance to committees when their planned 
actions or questions might impact Board Policies. 

1.11  New Board Members 

The Board shall annually convene Board retreat session(s) with new Board members for 
purposes of team building and training. New Board members are expected to familiarize 
themselves with this Governance Manual and the Bylaws.  

2. DELEGATION TO THE STAFF AND LAY LEADERSHIP 
2.1 Global Delegation  
The Board hereby delegates its authority to manage the work and resources of the church, 
except as expressly limited by these policies, to the Senior Minister(s). The Board, Senior 
Minister(s) and Senior Staff Team shall work collaboratively to carry out the Mission of the 
church. 

2.1.1  Senior Staff Team 
The Minister(s) manage(s) the work of the church in collaboration with the Senior Staff 
Team. In addition to the Senior Minister(s), the Senior Staff Team may include the 
Executive Director, Director of Family Ministry, Director of Music, and any other staff 
member who reports directly to the Senior Minister(s). 
The Board expects the Senior Staff Team, individually and jointly: 

• To lead and unify the paid and volunteer staff in directing their efforts toward the 
fulfillment of the UUCB Mission and Vision. 

• To exercise judgment and consult appropriately in ensuring compliance with the 
Bylaws, Board policies, and applicable laws and regulations. 

• To uphold a high standard of ethical and professional conduct. 



 16 

• To pursue achievement of Ends adopted by the Board of Trustees by adopting 
annual staff team goals and objectives in support of the Ends.  

• To advise the Board of Trustees on Board policy or Board initiatives appropriate 
for UUCB to fulfill its mission and the Board to achieve its Ends. 

• To submit data, information and analyses requested by the Board of Trustees in 
a timely, accurate, complete, and understandable fashion, to measure success 
in meeting the Ends and the mission of the church.  

• To inform the Board of Trustees in a timely manner of relevant trends, public 
policy initiatives, anticipated adverse media coverage, and material external and 
internal changes, particularly changes in the assumptions upon which any Policy 
has previously been established. 

• To advise the Board of Trustees if the Senior Staff Team perceives the Board to 
be out of compliance with the provisions of this governance document, the 
Bylaws, or federal or state law. 

• To avoid public statements about the official position of the congregation or 
Board of Trustees on controversial social, political, and/or congregational issues 
beyond what the congregation or Board has formally and explicitly adopted as 
positions of record. Nothing in this policy shall be construed as infringing on the 
fundamental principle of freedom of the pulpit. 

• To inform the Board of Trustees of all significant changes in, deletions of, or 
additions to administrative policies and regulations. 

• To ensure that a complete and current set of all church policies, including all 
those formulated by the Board of Trustees, Senior Staff Team, or Congregation, 
is available on the church website. 

• To supply for the Board’s agenda all items delegated to the Senior Staff but 
required by law, Bylaws, or contract to be Board approved. 

• To maintain up-to-date contracts with intern and community ministers, securing 
Board approval as needed.    

2.1.2 Executive Director 
The Board entrusts the Executive Director (ED), under the supervision of the Minister(s), 
with management of the financial and operational aspects of the church and with ensuring 
clear policies, procedures, and safety protocols for asset management (people, financial, 
facilities, equipment, databases). 
Only decisions of the Board acting as a whole and communicated to the ED are binding. 
The ED may confer with individual Board or committee members or congregants and has 
the discretion to refuse requests from individuals or committees. 
The ED is accountable to the Minister(s) and the Board for the performance of the 
organization. However, if the ED makes choices that the Board did not envision or finds 
objectionable but does so based on a reasonable interpretation of Board policies, the 
Board's remedy is to amend its policies. 

2.1.3  Executive Advisory Team 



 17 

The ED shall appoint an Executive Advisory Team to advise the Senior Minister(s) and 
Executive Director on administrative policy and operations. The Team’s function is to serve 
as a congregational sounding board for executive staff about administrative and 
operational issues and solutions, and a conduit for congregants to bring administrative and 
operational issues and solutions to the executive staff. Executive Advisory Team advice 
shall not be binding on the executive staff. 
In addition to the Executive Director and the Minister(s), the members of the Executive 
Advisory Team at the minimum shall include: 

• Program Council liaison 
• Board of Trustees President, or their designee from the Board 

The ED or Senior Minister(s) may appoint one or more additional member(s), at their 
discretion. 

2.1.4 Staff Accountability  
All staff members are ultimately accountable to the Senior Minister(s) as detailed in 
Section 8.2.5 of the UUCB Bylaws. 

2.2 Limitation of Global Delegation Related to Personnel Decisions 

The Board expects the Senior Minister(s) or their designee to take the lead in the 
selection, hiring, supervision, and discharge of all paid staff. 

2.2.1 Hiring Senior Staff 
Before filling a Senior Staff position, the Senior Minister(s) shall consult with the Board 
about the composition of a Search Committee that is inclusive of stakeholders. After 
receiving the Search Committee’s recommendation(s), the Senior Minister(s) selects and 
presents to the Board a final candidate for approval.  

2.2.2 Hiring Non-Senior Staff 
Hiring decisions for Non-Senior Staff are made by the Senior Minister(s) or Executive 
Director, who must consult with the direct supervisor for the position and should consult 
with key stakeholders before making these decisions. 

2.2.3  Community Ministers 

Formal affiliation as a UUCB community minister requires a written covenant approved by 
the Board of Trustees and the Senior Minister(s). 

2.2.4 New Positions 

New permanent staff positions are created through the budget process. The Senior 
Minister(s) or Executive Director may create and fill temporary positions, provided they can 
be funded within established budgetary limits. 

2.2.5 Employment at Will 



 18 

All paid staff are employees at will, unless the Board approves the terms of a contract that 
states otherwise. 

2.2.6 Termination 
The Senior Minister(s) must promptly notify the Board when a Senior Staff member is 
under consideration for termination. Whenever possible, before terminating a Senior Staff 
member, the Senior Minister(s) will discuss the matter with the Board in Executive Session 
and seek the Board’s support; however, the ultimate decision rests with the Senior 
Minister(s).  The Senior Minister(s) or Executive Director shall notify the Board promptly 
when any staff member has been terminated. Prior to discharging a paid staff member, the 
Senior Minister(s) and/or Executive Director must ensure that the decision complies with 
applicable laws, Board policies, contracts, and the Personnel Manual.  

2.3 Execution of Contracts 
2.3.1 Contract Standards  

Except as provided in Section 2.3.2, no one other than the Executive Director or their 
designee shall execute any contract on behalf of the church. The ED and expressed 
designee shall not enter any contracting arrangements that are in conflict with the church’s 
Ends Statements. The ED is encouraged to consider preferential purchase contracts that 
allow the church to live its values more fully. 

2.3.2 Approval 

Any contract of $10,000 or more, other than regular personnel contracts, requires the 
authorization of the Board President who may, at their discretion, submit the matter to the 
Board. Termination or breach of such a contract requires approval by the Board. 

2.3.3. Limitations 

Contracts for goods and services shall not be awarded to the following: members of the 
Board of Trustees, or members of these persons’ immediate families. Nothing in this 
limitation shall preclude awarding contracts to church members who are not in the 
positions of leadership listed above. 

3. CARE FOR PAID STAFF 
UUCB intends to be a fair, ethical, and attractive employer; to achieve high staff morale 
and productivity; and to protect members of the staff from all forms of injustice and abuse 
related to their employment. 

3.1 Personnel Manual 
The Executive Director will maintain an up-to-date Personnel Manual that complies with all 
applicable legal requirements. The Personnel Manual must provide adequate policies and 
procedures to give practical effect to the principles identified in Board policies. It will be the 
responsibility of the ED to keep the Board informed of the content of and changes to the 
Handbook. 



 19 

3.2 Equal Opportunity 

UUCB is committed to equal employment opportunity for all individuals. Decisions about 
recruiting, hiring, training, promotions, compensation, benefits, and all similar employment 
decisions must be made in compliance with all federal, state, and local laws. UUCB is 
committed to non-discriminatory, non-bias hiring practices with regard to age, race, color, 
ethnicity, cultural identity, national origin, ancestry, citizenship, immigration status, religious 
and spiritual beliefs, sex, gender identity or expression, sexual or affectional orientation, 
ability/disability, neurodiversity, socio-economic status, education, genetic information, 
marital status, familial status, status as domestic abuse survivor, housing status, and 
formerly incarcerated status. UUCB may require employees to respect Unitarian 
Universalist principles. 

3.3 Freedom from Workplace Harassment 
Harassment of any kind is prohibited and will not be tolerated. UUCB prohibits conduct 
directed to its employees that shows hostility or an aversion toward an individual because 
of any characteristic described in Section 3.2. UUCB also prohibits harassment based on 
any other classification protected by law, or any other harassment or bullying, whether or 
not protected by law. 
Any action that has the purpose or effect of creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive 
work environment; has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an 
individual’s work performance; or otherwise adversely affects an individual’s employment 
opportunities is strictly forbidden. Retaliation against individuals who make a claim of 
discrimination, or participate in the investigation of such a claim, is prohibited by this policy 
and will not be tolerated. 
Sexual harassment is prohibited and will not be tolerated. This policy applies to sexual 
harassment by anyone toward anyone regardless of gender. Unwelcome sexual advances, 
requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature 
constitute sexual harassment when submission to the conduct is made either explicitly or 
implicitly a term or condition of employment. 
The aforementioned actions and behaviors are also considered sexual harassment when 
submission to or rejection of the conduct is used as a factor in employment decisions 
affecting the individual. The aforementioned actions and behaviors are also considered 
sexual harassment when the conduct unreasonably interferes with an individual’s 
employment or creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive employment environment. 

3.4 Whistleblower Protection 
UUCB shall protect employees who make any lawful disclosure of information on a matter 
of UUCB concern, when they have reason to believe they are reporting a violation of any 
law, mismanagement, gross waste or misappropriation of UUCB funds or assets, a 
substantial and specific danger to public health and safety, or other alleged wrongful 
conduct. Further, UUCB prohibits adverse actions being taken against employees, 
volunteers, or any UUCB member in knowing retaliation for such disclosure. Any person 



 20 

found to have so violated this Policy shall be disciplined, up to and including termination 
from employment or expulsion from membership. 

3.5 Grievance  
It is the policy of UUCB that an employee shall have access to a grievance process as 
specified in the Personnel Manual, for all grievances including those based on 
discrimination, harassment, or any other basis. If the grievance is not resolved through the 
specified process, the employee may seek a review by the Board of Trustees. The 
resolution determined by the Board of Trustees will be binding upon the employee, all staff, 
and the congregation. The grievance process is the employee’s way of protesting what 
they perceive as an improper termination or improper terms placed on the termination or 
resignation. The process is the employee’s right and may not be denied or averted. 

3.6 Conflict of Interest Policy (for Paid Staff) 
This policy reflects the Board’s determination 

1. to prevent the personal interest of paid staff members from interfering with the 
performance of their duties to the church, and 

2. to prevent such staff members from receiving personal, financial, or professional 
gain at the expense of the church, beyond the terms of their employment. 

Staff members are therefore required to disclose any competing financial, professional, or 
personal obligations or interests that interfere, could interfere or could reasonably have the 
appearance of interfering with their ability to perform their required duties in a fair and 
objective manner.  
A conflict of interest is defined as a conflict between the private interests and official 
responsibilities of a paid staff member. This includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

Financial interest: receiving personal gifts or loans from third parties dealing or 
competing with the church; having any kind of financial interest in any third party 
dealing with the church. 
Personal interest: relationship to a Board member, another employee, or 
contractor of the church by blood, adoption, marriage, or domestic partnership; 
serving in a supervisory capacity to another staff member so related. 
Professional interest: holding office, serving on the board, participating in 
management or ownership, or being otherwise employed (or formerly employed) by 
any third party dealing with the church; using church time, personnel, equipment, or 
supplies for other than church approved activities, programs, and purposes; being in 
a position with another organization that leads to approaching the same donors on 
behalf of both organizations. 

3.7 Staff Performance Reviews 
The Minister(s) or ED organizes and leads annually a systematic process of 
developmental performance reviews for all UUCB staff under their supervision. Each staff 



 21 

member participates in the process with their supervisor, and all final reports are signed off 
by the Minister(s) or ED as appropriate. 

3.8 Fair Compensation 
UUCB strives to maintain fiscal and ethical integrity with respect to compensation of 
employees. Thus, UUCB shall fulfill employment agreements in terms of hours of work, 
wages, and benefits. Employment agreements will be offered within the confines of the 
projected annual budget. UUCB’s goal is to follow the UUA guidelines for fair 
compensation. 

4. LAY LEADERSHIP 
It is the intention of UUCB to build strong lay leadership through participation in program 
development and presentation; participation in the governance of the church; leadership 
training and development; and turnover in leadership positions. 

4.1 Program Council 

UUCB has many committees, teams, and other groups that are active in fulfilling the 
mission of the church. In seeking greater collaboration amongst groups, greater 
involvement of groups in the church’s governance, and greater fulfillment of the church’s 
mission and Ends, the Board has established a Program Council. 

4.1.1 Program Council Charge 

The charge to the Program Council is to support and expand fulfillment of the church’s 
mission and achievement of its Ends by: 

• Maximizing communication, support, and collaboration among groups of the 
church supporting and advising the work of the Minister(s). 

• Consulting with the Minister(s) about new or changed initiatives. 
• Advising the Executive Director, through the Executive Advisory Team, about 

programmatic impact on operations, administrative policies, and 
communications. 

• Handling operational responsibilities as designated by the Executive Director or 
Minister(s) in consultation with the Program Council. 

• Encouraging leadership growth. 
• Coordinating among groups and collaborating with church staff on community 

outreach and membership development. 
• Ensuring visitors are welcome into church programs open to the community. 
• Encouraging membership participation in programs, projects, events, and 

activities. 
• Considering and pursuing program or project initiatives from church groups 

and congregants, within the mission and budgeted resources of the church. 
• Conducting an annual review of programs’ and committees’ descriptions, 

mission statements, and charges. 



 22 

• Informing the Board of Trustees about program activities through transmittal of 
Program Council meeting minutes or other summaries. 

4.1.2  Program Council Leadership 

The Council will be coordinated by a Convener, who will have a set term not to exceed 
three years, and who shall not serve more than two consecutive terms. The Convener will 
be responsible for convening regular meetings of the Council. Either the Convener or a 
Program Council Liaison chosen by the Program Council and approved by the Board of 
Trustees shall serve on the Executive Advisory Team. 

4.1.3  Program Council Composition 

The Council will be comprised of representatives of program and operational groups in the 
church. The specific representation may be modified by the Council in consultation with the 
Minister(s) and reported to the Board. The current composition includes representatives 
from:  

1. Adult Education and Exploration 
2. Buildings & Grounds 
3. Chalice Circles 
4. Communications 
5. Family Ministry 
6. Finance/Fundraising 
7. Membership 
8. Music and Arts 
9. Pastoral Care 
10. Social Justice 
11. Worship 

4.2  Nominating Committee 

A Nominating Committee is established and conducts its business in accordance with 
Section 6 of the Bylaws to identify candidates to nominate for vacant seats on the Board of 
Trustees. In selecting candidates to nominate, the Committee should seek the following 
group characteristics among board members: 

• Diversity (such as racial, gender identity, sexual orientation, and age/generation) 
• Varied experience in different UUCB program areas 
• At least some members experienced with budgets/finance 

Individual characteristics useful in Board service include: 
• Communication and interpersonal skills 
• Familiarity with how UUCB functions and/or previous experience in a leadership 

position at UUCB or other organization 



 23 

• Commitment to anti-oppression/anti-racism 
• Energy and time to commit to the work. 

 
While the Committee shall hold in confidence individual names under consideration until 
and unless they are announced as candidates, it should welcome questions about Board 
service and the nominating process. The Committee shall hold a candidates’ forum open 
to members of the congregation at least two weeks before the election. 

5. CARE FOR MEMBERS, ACTIVE ATTENDEES AND 
VISITORS 

It is the policy of UUCB to provide members and guests with a safe and welcoming 
environment. The staff is responsible for ensuring compliance with all sections of this 
policy and for developing procedures to implement as necessary. 

5.1 Welcoming Congregation 
UUCB is a welcoming, inclusive, and vibrant congregation! We strive to be a community 
where all people are cherished and differences celebrated, and where no one is excluded 
or silenced because of age, race, color, ethnicity, cultural identity, national origin, ancestry, 
citizenship, immigration status, religious and spiritual beliefs, sex, gender identity or 
expression, sexual or affectional orientation, ability/disability, neurodiversity, socio-
economic status, education, genetic information, marital status, familial status, status as 
domestic abuse survivor, housing status, and formerly incarcerated status. We invite all to 
share in the fellowship, ministry, worship, service, leadership, challenges, and joys of our 
congregation’s life. 

5.2 Universal Access 
UUCB is committed to making its premises and activities safely and conveniently 
accessible to persons with disabilities, meeting or exceeding all applicable legal 
requirements. 

5.3 Membership 
Membership requirements are defined by the UUCB Bylaws. The Board of Trustees 
delegates to the Minister responsibility for ensuring there is an annual review by staff, with 
congregant advisors as appropriate, to determine the membership standing and eligibility 
to vote of all members and to report the certified membership number to the UUA and to 
the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees authorizes the Minister(s) to waive the 
financial contribution of record in cases of hardship. 
See also: Bylaws 

5.4 Safety 
See also: Safety Policy 



 24 

      Facilities Policies 

5.4.1 Alcohol 
UUCB is committed to the use and consumption of alcohol only in a safe and responsible 
manner. All federal, state and local laws governing the serving and/or sale of alcohol shall 
be observed. No person under 21 shall consume alcohol at any UUCB-sponsored event, 
even with parental consent. This policy applies to all UUCB-sponsored events, whether 
held on-site or off-site, as well as to non-UUCB-sponsored events held on UUCB 
property.       

5.4.2 Building Safety and Security 
The staff shall ensure that all UUCB programs are safe for participants and staff; that 
facilities are maintained in a safe, sanitary, and secure condition; that hazards are 
corrected promptly; that required licenses and inspections are kept up to date; and that 
access to UUCB buildings is limited to those who have legitimate business there. 

5.4.3 Child Protection 
UUCB is committed to providing a safe and nurturing environment for children and youth. 
The staff shall create and maintain procedures for the selection, training and supervision of 
all persons who work with children and youth, as well as other procedures as necessary to 
ensure the safety of persons 18 years of age or younger. 
See also: Childcare Policies and Procedures 

5.4.4 Emergency Planning 
The staff shall create and maintain a written plan for responding to reasonably foreseeable 
emergencies, including medical emergencies, fire, toxic conditions, weather problems, 
threatening communications, active-shooter, power outages, natural disasters, shelter-in-
place orders, and other circumstances that create or threaten to create dangerous 
conditions. 

5.4.5 Firearms, Weapons and Hazardous and Contraband Materials 
No one may carry a firearm on UUCB property except for on-duty law enforcement officers 
or security personnel hired by UUCB. Other weapons and hazardous and contraband 
materials shall be regulated in the church’s safety policy. 

5.4.6 Smoking  
Smoking is prohibited on all UUCB property and at all off-site UUCB-sponsored events. 
 

5.5 Right Relations 
The strength, well-being and reputation of UUCB depend upon a sense of fellowship 
among the members, guests, and staff, which thrives in an atmosphere of trust, respect, 
and cooperation. The staff shall create and maintain procedures to deal with any instances 



 25 

of harassment, including sexual harassment, disruptive behavior, and other actions that 
are a violation of right relations. 

6. CARE FOR FINANCIAL RESOURCES 
The activities of the Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley (UUCB) involve the handling 
of substantial funds for which the church is financially and legally responsible. The size 
and complexity of church operations require that sound accounting and business practices 
be used in their performance. The following policies provide guidance to Staff, Councils, 
Teams, Committees and the Board of Trustees to discharge adequately and efficiently 
their obligations and responsibilities to the Congregation. 

6.1 Federal, State and Local Regulatory Compliance 

While conducting church business, members, active attendees, staff, and other persons 
affiliated with the church shall comply with federal, state and local laws and regulations.  

6.2 Tax-Exempt Status 
No member, staff person, or other person affiliated with the church shall take any action 
that could jeopardize the congregation’s tax-exempt status under local, state, or federal 
law. 

6.3 Insurance  
The church shall carry Property, Liability, and Directors and Officers Liability insurance at 
levels required by law or recommended by industry standards. 

6.4 Document Retention 
UUCB retains all documents required by local, state, and federal government agencies for 
the legally required amount of time. These documents may include, but are not limited to, 
tax records, personnel files, and financial records. Documents recording the history of the 
church shall be appropriately stored at the church in a manner that maintains the integrity 
of the documents. Storage location, format, and duration for such materials shall be 
determined in consultation with the UUCB Archivist(s), if the position is filled. 
See also: Archives Policy dated 1/21/1999 

6.5 Purchasing and Contracting 
UUCB practices sustainable stewardship of infrastructure and financial resources in 
purchasing and contracting, with attention to legal and insurance requirements and best 
practices, with procedures for long-range planning and timely response to urgent events. 
For expenditures over $5,000 competitive bids will be solicited except for emergencies or 
where there is not a viable alternative. 

6.6 Financial Controls 



 26 

With guidance from the Finance Committee, and to ensure the integrity of church finances, 
the ED and Treasurer are responsible for: 

• Reviewing and revising internal controls  
• Ensuring there are sufficient responsible and available signatories on all church 

financial accounts, which require approval by the Board of Trustees. Allowable 
signatories generally include the Executive Director, Minister, current and past 
Treasurers, Assistant Treasurers, and current members of the Board of Trustees 

• Designating responsibility for preparing checks 
• Organizing and overseeing ongoing internal review of financial transactions 

The Board will appoint an Audit Committee that will be responsible for implementing the 
Bylaws provisions regarding regular audits and reviews. 

6.7 Cash Flow 
The Board of Trustees is responsible for ensuring that there is a contingency plan in place 
to respond to significant expected, unexpected, or unpredictable financial contingencies 
the church may encounter, as well as predictable variations in cash flow. The Board-
Designated Endowment funds may serve as reserve funds under the management of the 
Endowment Committee and in accordance with Board policies and the Bylaws. 

6.8 Fundraising 
UUCB engages in activities to generate the income needed to fund the UUCB budget, 
including the Annual Pledge Drive and special events, concerts, sales, auctions, 
gatherings, and other activities that shall be planned in a given year. Fundraising activities 
are to be coordinated with attention to minimizing competition and distraction, especially 
for the Annual Pledge Drive as the core funding source for the church. Publicity for special 
purpose or program-related fundraising should not conflict with major all-church/General 
Fund fundraising. In accordance with the policy on Global Delegation, the Executive 
Director has final approval of the fundraising cycle. 

6.9  Plate Donations 

With the exception of Christmas Eve plate donations, one half of the funds received as 
worship service plate donations shall be contributed to a Good Neighbor non-profit 
organization recommended by the Social Justice Council. UUCB’s General Fund will 
receive the other half of the plate donations. The full amount of the plate donations 
received on Christmas Eve shall be deposited in the Minister’s Discretionary Fund, for use 
by the Minister to assist individuals and/or organizations at the Minister’s discretion. 
 
See also: Fundraising Policy 

6.10 Gift Acceptance 



 27 

UUCB encourages donors to minimize restrictions or conditions on gifts. UUCB reserves 
the right to decline any gift that is inconsistent with the mission of UUCB or its tax-exempt 
status, that creates an undue administrative burden, or that causes UUCB to incur 
excessive expenses.  
See also: 

Gift Acceptance Policy 
Donor Restricted Gift Acceptance Policy 

6.10 Sharing of Donors’ Financial Information 
UUCB is committed to creating a culture of engagement and generosity among its 
members. Financial support to the congregation should be acknowledged, celebrated, and 
done so in ways that are sensitive to the complex feelings that surround the topics of 
money, giving, and people’s personal resources. 
Recording and soliciting donations to the congregation requires that a limited number of 
volunteers and staff know the names and amounts of donations and pledges made to 
UUCB. The Finance Committee will be responsible for maintaining procedures to limit 
access to information about individual donations and pledges. 
 

7. ENDOWMENT COMMITTEE AND ENDOWMENT FUND 
INVESTMENT POLICY (Summary) 

See also: 
Bylaws Article 9, General Provisions 

7.1 Scope and Purpose 
The purpose of this policy is to provide the framework for the investment management of 
the Unitarian Universalist Church of Berkeley (UUCB) Endowment Fund assets.  
This policy sets forth the investment objectives for the Endowment Fund as developed by 
the UUCB Endowment Committee and adopted by the UUCB Board of Trustees. 

7.2 Authority 
The UUCB Endowment Committee (EC) reports to and gets its authority from the UUCB 
Board of Trustees. Accordingly, the EC has no direct authority to invest assets or make 
distributions from the UUCB Endowment. Its role is to make recommendation to the BOT 
in these areas and to implement what the Board decides. In performing its functions, the 
EC and the Board shall be governed by California Law as embodied in the Uniform 
Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) found in Probate Code Sections 
18501-18510, by any applicable Federal Law and Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles, and by the following policies. When necessary, the EC, and the Board, shall 
consult with legal counsel and accountants on issues that may arise regarding the 
Endowments.  



 28 

7.3 Duties and Purpose 

7.3.1 Activities 

In carrying out its duties, the EC will oversee both the Permanent Endowment and the 
Board Designated Endowment (also called “quasi-endowment”), in accordance with the 
Bylaws.3F

6 

7.3.2 Seeking New Gifts 

Unless otherwise directed by the Board, one of the main functions of the EC shall be to 
undertake efforts to increase both the “true” endowment and the “quasi” endowment by 
seeking new gifts to UUCB, now and in the future. As part of this effort, the EC shall 
educate the congregation about why gifts to the endowment can be a profound personal 
choice as well as about the nature of the many ways they may give to UUCB, especially 
via wills and estate planning. The EC shall also educate members on how historic gifts to 
the endowment have already helped us weather costly deferred building maintenance 
challenges and how new planned legacy gifts will grow in value and offer future stability 
and security to UUCB, creating a strong foundation upon which the church can build and 
grow.  

7.4 Endowment Designations 

The EC shall maintain clear records of all gifts made to the endowment(s) to the degree 
necessary to enforce any restrictions that were placed on the gifts by the donor. These 
records shall clearly delineate between what is a true endowment and what is a quasi-
endowment. Other “reserve funds” of the church if any there be now or in the future, shall 
NOT be co-mingled with Endowment funds, and the EC shall have no responsibility with 
respect to such reserve funds. 

7.5 Gifts to the Endowment 

7.5.1 Guidelines 

Guidelines for what kinds of gifts the church will and will not accept may be found in the 
Donor Restricted Gift Acceptance Policy and the UUCB Gift Acceptance Policy. Gifts of 
less than $10,000 shall generally not be made part of the endowment but rather shall be 
used to meet the general operating expenses of the church. However, the church will 
generally honor a donor’s specific instruction that such a gift only be used for a specific 
purpose. See Bylaws Section 9.1.1.4. 

7.5.2 Endowment Gift Terms 

When a gift of endowment is offered to the church, if it is possible to do so, the EC will work 
with the donor, and if deceased, the donor’s Estate Executor or other legitimate 
representative of the donor, to clarify the terms of the gift and the donor’s intentions. Once 

 
6 On the difference between a Permanent Endowment and a Quasi Endowment, see, generally this article by 
attorneys who are expert in this field: www.dwt.com/insights/2020/04/accessing-charitable-endowment-
funds. 

http://www.dwt.com/insights/2020/04/accessing-charitable-endowment-funds
http://www.dwt.com/insights/2020/04/accessing-charitable-endowment-funds


 29 

these are ascertained, the EC shall communicate them to the Board, and if the Board 
approves per the Gift Acceptance Policies, accept the gift.  

7.5.3 Appreciation 

The EC shall develop a method for showing the church’s appreciation for all pledged estate 
gifts, for endowment gifts received and accepted, and for periodically informing the 
congregation of all endowment gifts received. 

7.6 Investment Objectives 
A.         The overall investment objective of the Endowment Fund is to support the 

annual operating needs of UUCB by simultaneously investing in a way that upholds UU 
values and preserving the future real value of the assets. The Board-designated quasi-
endowment can also be used for emergencies, funding loans, and/or capital 
improvements. Per the Bylaws section 9.1.1.1, repayment may be required. 

B.         Total Return Basis. Investment management of the Fund will be on a total 
return basis. The goal of the investment manager(s) will be to achieve a competitive total 
rate of return for a balanced investment account over the market viewed long-term with no 
greater than average market risk. 

C.         Preferred Investments. UUCB seeks to emulate the UUA’s practice of 
investing in or avoiding specific companies or aggregates according to their performance 
in the areas of environmental, social and corporate governance conduct. 

D.        Asset Mix. The assets are to be broadly diversified in order to minimize the risk 
of a large loss. The following asset ranges should provide enough flexibility to meet both 
the long-term and short-term objectives, subject to periodic review. 

Equities     35%–50% 
Fixed Income   20%–30% 
Alternative Investments  30%–40% 
Cash Equivalents   0%–10% 

Within each equity asset class there will be further appropriate diversification among 
domestic and international equities, among industries and sectors, and among market 
capitalization. 

7.7 Disbursement 
7.7.1 Annual Distribution Recommendations 

The EC shall recommend to the Board the amount of the annual distributions, which 
should be made from the endowments to further the operations of the church and all its 
various programs. It shall be up to the Board how these distributions should be 
apportioned; however, in those instances where a donor has expressed an intention that 
the gifted assets be used for a certain purpose, the EC shall so note. While the Board will 
rely on recommendations made by the EC regarding “true” endowments, the Board shall 
make sure the distribution carries out the donor’s intent. Regarding the “quasi” 



 30 

endowment, the decision on use of those distributions will be within the discretion of the 
Board in accordance with the Bylaws. 

7.7.2 Base Payout 

Annually, the EC will calculate the level of base payout, which will be 4% of the 13-quarter 
rolling average of each endowed fund. This is calculated by adding the quarterly market 
values for each fund for the previous 13 quarters ending December 31 of the year previous 
to the fiscal year of the expected payout, divided by 13. An additional potential payout of 
from 0 to 1.5% may also be recommended by the EC for Board consideration based on the 
following: 

• the endowment’s rate of return for the past 3 years 
• the potential effects of inflation or deflation 
• the potential use of the funds for “development expenditures.” Analogous to 

capital expenditures, these development expenditures are expected to provide a 
future return over several years in a way that justifies the expenditure. 

Should loans be made from the UUCB Endowment, the unpaid principal of such loans will 
be considered an investment and included in the endowment total. 
The entire amount of the 4% annual payout is to be allocated to the Ladd Griffith Building 
Fund and used for building repairs as needed.  

7.8 External Investment Management 
Endowment funds will be managed by the UUA Common Endowment Fund (CEF) as long 
as the CEF meets the overall objectives of the UUCB Endowment. The EC shall stay in 
contact with the UUA and report periodically to the BOT as to how the UUCB endowments 
are doing. The EC may recommend to the BOT, or the BOT on its own may consider some 
other arrangement. 

7.9 Reporting 
The Endowment Committee will report to the Congregation at the May congregational 
meeting. In addition, monthly return reports will be included in the Treasurer’s Report. 

8. CARE FOR PHYSICAL RESOURCES 
UUCB will prudently manage and maintain its buildings and grounds, and all furnishings 
and equipment, to balance respect for heritage with maximizing benefit to the current and 
future congregation. 
Reasonable and prudent insurance coverage will be provided. 
The Buildings and Grounds Team will work in partnership with the Executive Director and 
Facilities Manager on the upkeep, repair, and appearance of church buildings and 
landscaping; and the establishment of policies regarding facilities. 



 31 

9. COMMUNICATION 
The purpose of UUCB communications is (1) to foster community building by raising the 
public’s awareness of UUCB and its mission, and (2) informing the congregation of 
programs and events of interest, as well as significant events in each other’s lives. 
See also: 

Communications Policy  
Communications Procedures 
Social Media Procedures 
How Things Work at UUCB 
Safety Policy (re: communications with youth and children; safety and emergencies) 

9.1 Inclusive Language 
UUCB communications strive to be more than merely passively inclusive; wherever 
appropriate, communications explicitly include groups that have been historically 
marginalized. 

9.2 Content 
UUCB communications should be consistent with the UUCB Covenant of Right Relations 
and UUA Principles. Operational oversight of all communications that use the UUCB name 
rests with the Executive Director. 
The Beacon on the Hill newsletter, the UUCB website, broadcast emails, weekly 
announcements, and press releases communicate information regarding UUCB programs 
and activities. Outside events participated in by a recognized UUCB group may also be 
publicized in these media. Members are encouraged to promote church events and 
services on social networking websites, Internet discussion groups, and portions of bulletin 
boards in the church. 
Electronic postings on UUCB-affiliated discussion boards that are deemed inappropriate 
(e.g., for obscenity, sexual content, sales solicitation, etc.), or otherwise contrary to church 
policy (such as the Privacy or Safety policies) or the UUCB Covenant of Right Relations 
may be removed. The Executive Director will have final authority if a decision on content is 
needed. 

9.3 Intellectual Property 
All content must be released by the original author(s) before being distributed via UUCB 
communications media whether or not the content explicitly displays the copyright mark. 
All content remains the intellectual property of the author(s) and must be explicitly 
attributed to them. The person who submits the content is responsible for obtaining all 
applicable permissions to publish any pictures, names, or other information included in the 
submission according to copyright laws and the UUCB Privacy Policy, as applicable. 
Blanket permission may be sought (e.g., at member signing) for specific categories of 
content. 



 32 

All designs, layout, themes, and other content constituting UUCB communications are the 
property of UUCB except for content released by the original author(s). 

9.4 Public Representation of the Congregation on Issues 

Individuals, Committees, Teams, and Task Forces may speak for themselves, but only for 
themselves, and not for the congregation as a whole.  
Representation on behalf of the congregation may be approved by a vote of the Board of 
Trustees or by a vote of the congregation at a Congregational Meeting.  
Renting does not constitute endorsement: The use or rental of UUCB’s facilities by non-
UUCB groups does not necessarily imply endorsement or sponsorship of the event, nor 
endorsement of the renting group by the congregation. Therefore, publicity by non-UUCB 
groups using our spaces should be designed in such a way that no suggestion of 
endorsement of sponsorship is implied. 

10. AFFILIATION WITH EXTERNAL ORGANIZATIONS 
When the congregation as a whole is considering a formal affiliation with another 
organization, the Senior Minister(s) and relevant Senior Staff shall be solicited for input. 
Formal membership in or affiliation of UUCB with other organizations may be approved 
only after careful consideration and after a vote by the Board of Trustees or by a vote of 
the congregation at a Congregational Meeting.  

11. OVERSIGHT 
11.1 Cycle of Planning, Evaluation and Review 
The UUCB Board of Trustees acknowledges its continuing responsibility for establishing 
ministry goals, working towards achieving its Ends and fulfilling the mission of the church.  
The Board is committed to fulfilling this responsibility by annually establishing goals and 
reviewing UUCB’s progress in meeting the prior year’s goals.  

11.2 Monitoring 
11.2.1 Financial Reports 
The preparation of monthly financial reports is overseen by the Treasurer working with the 
Executive Director and financial staff and consultants, reviewed by the Finance 
Committee, and presented to the Board of Trustees in its regular monthly meeting. The 
reports include an updated status of the Operating Budget and all Funds for restricted use 
(as documented on the Balance Sheet), and any other significant financial activity or any 
special funds that may be authorized by the Board, including the status of invested funds. 



 33 

11.2.2 Staff Reports 
The Minister(s) and Executive Director shall prepare monthly reports to the Board of 
Trustees.   

11.2.3 Board Inquiries 
The Board may request data, information, or advice from staff to support its regular 
function. Such requests must come from the Board as a whole and not from individual 
Trustees. 

11.3 Evaluation 
11.3.1 Board and Board Committee Self-Evaluation 
The Board evaluates the structure and function of the Board of Trustees and its 
Committees on an annual basis. 

11.4  Committee on Ministry 

A Committee on Ministry will monitor and nurture the health of the ministry of the 
congregation. The Committee on Ministry will be comprised of members identified by the 
Minister(s), and members selected by the Board of Trustees on behalf of the congregation. 
The Committee members will serve three-year terms. 

11.4.1  Evaluation of the Ministry  

An assessment of the work of the Minister(s) and the ministry of the congregation will be 
conducted annually by the Committee on Ministry. The results will be conveyed to the 
Board of Trustees to support the Board in its monitoring and assessment of the Minister(s) 
as provided for in the Bylaws. 
  



 34 

LOG OF CHANGES 

Date Summary of Changes Board President or 
Designee 

03/03/2021 Major revision, content and format, complete 
document  

5/21/21 Changed the ongoing Bylaws Committee to a 
Bylaws Task Force  

12/1/2021 
Addition of section 1.10.6; addition of the  Board’s 
Widening the Circle of Concern Vision Statement 
“Mission, Vision, Principles” section) 

 

4/6/2022 Revised section 1.10.1   

6/1/22 Amended the Board’s Widening the Circle of 
Concern Vision Statement  

8/2/22 

Revised section 1.2 to strengthen board’s 
understanding of program activities. Revised 
section 1.4 to define “ends” and “environmental 
analysis.”   Revised section 1.6 to explicate the 
meaning of “trustees must first be loyal to the 
interests of the congregation.”  Revised section 
1.10 to ensure greater connection with board 
committees. Revised section 4.2 to strengthen 
communication between the Program Council and 
the Board of Trustees. 

 

11/2/22 Revised language to section 6.7 regarding financial 
responsibilities of the ED and Treasurer.  

1/4/23 

Small changes to the language describing the role 
of the Widening the Circle of Concern Committee 
with the purpose of changing the perception that 
the WTCC is in a hierarchical, overseeing role vis a 
vis the congregation.  Their goal instead is for a 
collaborative relationship. 

 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   



 35 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 



Report to UUCB Board of Trustees, February 7, 2024 
 
RE: Mee�ng with Partner church on Zoom 
 
On Saturday, January 20th we convened a Zoom mee�ng at 10AM pacific, 8PM Transylvanian 
�me in Homorodufalu. 
 
The mee�ng was atended by myself, Stephanie Ann Blythe, Dean Flint, and Board co-
presidents, Pier Sun Ho and Helen Tinsley Jones, Rev. Marcus Liefert, secretary Selene Fabiano 
and Marta Tobey (newly approved convener of the UUCB Program Council. Ecaterina Isaak also 
atended to aid in transla�on, since she speaks Hungarian. Shahida Dossa logged on near the 
end. 
 
From Transylvania the minister Gyerö A�lla and about 15 members of their council atended, 5 
women and 10 men.) Unfortunately, their President was ill. All were gathered in the Community 
House, dressed in warm clothes. It had just snowed there. A gi� from Dean Flint many years ago 
had enabled them to purchase this mee�ng house. 
 
We introduced ourselves, saying how long we had been associated with the church and our 
roles. Helen and Pier talked about our Board. They introduced by coming forward to the camera 
and saying their names. Gyerö A�la translated.   
We told them how o�en our board meets and where our money comes from and how the 
minister gets paid. They wanted to know how many members we have and we talked about 
different por�olios that report to the board. 
 
We learned that their council meets quarterly, that there are different responsibili�es that 
different people have, such as educa�on maters (including our scholarship assistance to 
students of their choosing), church building and money maters.  We also learned that the 
minister there gets paid a small amount by the Romanian government determined by how 
many Unitarian members there are in the country, also by the Hungarian Unitarian Church, and 
by the people of ‘ujfalu. 
 
We asked about the need for church renova�on and if there were plans to apply for any 
government funds.  They told us it takes about $25000 to make applica�on and get permits, 
since it is an historic building that must abide by strict regula�ons. 
 
They asked if we had received their Christmas card puzzle.  We had, and it was put together on 
Sunday 1/21 by the Childrens’ chapel.  Here is a picture. The children also wrote thank you 
notes to send back to them. We are wondering where we can display this! 
 
I’m hoping we can have another Zoom, perhaps around Easter. 
 



 
 
 

Partner Church ini�a�ves with our congrega�on 
in Homoródújfalu, Romania 

 
• Village Educa�on Fund: suppor�ng youth and young 

adults in furthering their educa�on 
• Connec�ng our respec�ve Boards/Councils through 

Zoom mee�ngs 
• Restoring our Transylvanian Szekeley Gate on church 

grounds 



• Aiding in restora�on projects in the village: 
Community House basement, Parish house and 
Church restora�on 

• Travel to the IWC congress in September 2024 in 
Koloszvár 
 
Connect with the Interna�onal Women’s 
Convoca�on twice a month Zoom mee�ngs. 7am 
Tuesdays.  admin@icuuw.com 
htps://intlwomensconvo.org/page/donate/ 

 
 
 
 

mailto:admin@icuuw.com
https://intlwomensconvo.org/page/donate/

	Board Agenda Feb 2024.pdf
	BOT Jan 2024 Minutes.pdf
	24.2 ED Report to BoT.pdf
	2024 UUA Certificationpdf (002).pdf
	Treasurer's report Feb 2024.pdf
	UUCB FOC Board Presentation v2 20240204.pdf
	Report from the Freestone Oversight Committee UUCB Board of T
	The Freestone Oversight Committee (FOC)
	FOC Report Summary
	Conservation Easement Applications
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Freestone Oversight Committee Report

	Agenda 02-11-24 Congregational v2.pdf
	In-person in the Sanctuary AND Via Zoom Video Conference
	https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3844641385?pwd=VlE2NWIrRGZNZFlwQkg4SXFoVUo3Zz09
	Meeting ID: 384 464 1385  Password: 5250302

	Gov Manual item 2-7-24.pdf
	Cover memo re gov manual 2-7-24
	Proposed Revisions to Board Governance Manual 2-3-24
	Draft of Gov Manual v.2-7-24

	Partner Church Report.pdf



